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This Report on Form 10-K contains forward-lookingtements, including but not limited to those sfieally identified as such, that involve
risks and uncertainties. The statements contaiméuls Report on Form 10-K that are not purelydristl are forward-looking statements,
including without limitation statements regardihg tCompany's expectations, beliefs, intentiongrategies regarding the future. All
forward-looking statements included in this Remort-orm 10-K are based on information availablthtoCompany on the date hereof, and
the Company assumes no obligation to update artyfemvard-looking statements. The Company's acemllts could differ materially from
those anticipated in these forward-looking statemias a result of a number of factors, including,rot limited to, those set forth below
under the headings "Manufacturing," "CompetitionddFactors That May Affect Future Results" aneelsere in this Report on Form ¥0-

PART |
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
OVERVIEW

8x8, Inc. develops, manufactures and markets teleamication equipment with an emphasis on multimeaiernet protocol (IP)
applications. The Company's products are highlggrdted, leverage its proprietary technology aedcamprised of communication
semiconductors, multimedia compression algoritmesyork protocols and embedded system design. Tgreskeicts may be used in
applications including voice-over-IP (VolP), videmwnitoring and streaming, and videoconferencinge @bmpany markets its products
mainly to original equipment manufacturers (OEMmJt also to end users for its Video Monitoring systproducts.

The Company began developing its multimedia comugatitn technology in the form of programmable nmétlia semiconductors and
accompanying software in 1990, and has subsequeatiyme a leading manufacturer of semiconducterthéoembedded videoconferencing
and videophone markets. Customers for the Companylimedia processors include OEM manufacturech s Sony Electronics, Inc.,
Samsung, Mitsubishi, Panasonic, Siemens AG andreitel Corporation. To date the primary customgliegtions for the Company's
semiconductors have been multimedia communicationihals (such as videophones, telephones or remfiei@ncing systems) for the
integrated services digital network (ISDN) and piodlic switched telephone network (PSTN). Recetittyyever, several of the Company's
customers have announced IP communications catpedbiior their products, allowing voice, video atata connections via local area
networks (LANS), wide area networks (WANSs), and litiernet. The Company intends to focus all ofitsire efforts with respect to
development of multimedia communications semicotaigoon IP applications.*

In an effort to expand the available market fomitsitimedia communication products, and to capitabn its vertically integrated technology,
the Company began developing low cost consumeppigenes and marketing these products to consumdes the ViaTV brand name in
1997. The ViaTV videophone enables phone call @ggnts to both hear and see each other while carnwating over a standard analog
telephone line (commonly known as a plain old teteye service, or POTS, line). The Company shipfeefirst ViaTV product in February
1997, and over the next two years introduced séwerm videophone products, expanded its distrilbutibannels in North America, Europe
and Asia, and became a leading manufacturer ofucoesvideophones. However, in the fourth quartdischl 1999 the Company determii
that due to a combination of factors including hiigh cost of maintaining a consumer distributioarel, the slower than expected growth
rate of the consumer videophone market, and thegloss margins typical of a consumer electronics

* This statement is a forward looking statemenleding current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing” commencing on page Conipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSelismmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.



product made it unlikely that the consumer videaphbusiness would be profitable in the foreseefitlze. Therefore, the Company
announced in April 1999 that it would cease promuncof the ViaTV product line and withdraw from igstribution channels over the
subsequent several quarters.

In June 1998, the Company entered the market émosmonitoring products with its RSM-1500 RemotevBillance Module. The RSM-
1500 module enables real-time remote video momigoover POTS lines. Its target market is primaoilyners of small businesses such as
convenience stores and restaurants who need thity &biview their premises from any remote locatio the world at any time. The
Company currently sells its RSM-1500 module prodadctecurity distributors and dealers in North Alteerand is attempting to expand its
distribution channels into Europe and Asia. The @any intends to continue developing, manufactuaind marketing its Video Monitoring
products and to address new opportunities in theosimonitoring market enabled by IP communicatisosh as broadband connections and
streaming video over the Internet.*

The Company entered the market for VolP produciB3doember 1998 with the announcement of its Augldoternet Telephony Processor.
The Audacity processor combines IP telephony padtegpport with audio compression/decompressiomlgidity and runs multiple
simultaneous IP phone calls on a single integreitedit. In April 1999, the Company announced iygrfphony VolP module, an integrated
system product that is based on the Audacity semdiector and that connects up to four analog telephioes to an IP network. The
Company's VolIP products target OEM manufacturetelephony equipment such as cable and DSL modemsgidential applications and
PBX equipment for business applications.

The Company has recently organized into two businegts. The first business unit, Broadband Telaghmarkets the Company's
telecommunications products to OEMs. This busineitss product line includes the Audacity processioe Symphony VolP module, and
Company's videoconferencing and videophone semigziots. The second business unit, Video Monitormgrkets the Company's
monitoring products under the RSM brand name tousds. In addition, the Company will continue &t s existing inventory of ViaTV
videophone products through select channels oeenditt several quarters.

In May 1999, the Company announced that it hadredtimto a definitive agreement to acquire Odiséi. Sa privately held, development
stage company based in Sophia Antipolis, Franee d@velops Internet protocol telephony softwamdis€i is developing a scalable, Java-
based software solution for managing VolP netwotke software will run on a carrier-grade serveated at a telephony service provider's
site and will provide complete voice and data smwiover T1/E1, xXDSL or cable communication links.

INDUSTRY BACKGROUND
Broadband Telephony

Traditional telecommunications networks such as?8&N, ISDN, and corporate PBXs utilize a "ciraaititched" topology in which two
communicating terminals (e.g. telephones or videopk) are connected via a fixed electrical pathtthaels through a series of switches
across the network. In many cases, the connecétween the terminals consists of both analog agithticomponents; for example a normal
residential phone call uses an analog connectan #rach caller's house to the closest telephorfeaage, and a digital connection between
the exchanges. The circuit-switched topology akbotixed bandwidth to the digital component of doanection; typically this is 64 kilobits
per second (Kbps) for a voice call.

Circuit-switched networks such as the PSTN have Ibedt over decades for the single purpose ofyoagrreal-time voice communications.
These networks feature very high reliability, a guaeed quality of

* This statement is a forward looking statemeniiesting current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing” commencing on page Conipetition” commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSelismmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.



service (QoS) and ubiquitous availability. The conmstandard of reliability for a voice network 8.999% ("five- nines") reliability,
meaning that the network can only be down for arigwutes per year. The vast majority of calls aber PSTN have imperceptible delay and
a consistently satisfactory audio quality knowritai quality”. Additionally, the PSTN is ubiquit@, with over 500 million lines installed
throughout the world. However, circuit-switchedwetks have some inherent disadvantages. Allotiixegfbandwidth throughout the
duration of each call, whether or not voice is attyubeing transmitted, is inefficient. As a restiite bandwidth available for each call is
relatively low (e.g. 33.6 kbps for a standard P@a#) and unacceptable for rich content such asenhggh-quality audio or motion video.
Furthermore, it is difficult for telecommunicatiossrvice providers to provide differentiated seegibased on varying the bandwidth or QoS
for a particular call.

Equipment providers for the circuit-switched telerounications network are traditional switch and PBXnufacturers such as Lucent
Technologies, Nortel Networks and Siemens AG. Serproviders for this market are regional Bell gpieig companies (RBOCs), long
distance carriers and national public telephonepzoies.

In contrast to voice networks, data networks, aagthe Internet or the corporate LAN, utilize aclt-switched" topology in which
information between two communicating terminalg(@. PC downloading a page from a web serveraisstnitted in the form of small data
packets that travel through a series of switchmsgters and hubs across the network. Individual gctto not necessarily travel along the
same path, nor arrive in the same order in whiely there sent. If the terminals are not exchangatg then no bandwidth is allotted to their
connection. Information is sent strictly in digitatm over the entire connection, and the most comprotocol used for communicating is
Internet protocol (IP).

Packet-switched networks have been built mainlctorying non real-time data. The advantages dfi setworks are efficiency, flexibility
and scalability. Bandwidth is only consumed whead®a. Networks can be built in a variety of confagions to suit the number of users,
client/server application requirements and desinalability of bandwidth. The exponential growthtlee Internet in recent years has proven
the scalability of packet networks. However, masthet-switched networks offer limited or no QoSiital networks cannot guarantee that a
transmitted packet will arrive at its destinatioithin a given amount of time, or at all, and cangoarantee a minimum bandwidth available
to a particular connection. Furthermore, traditigrecket-switched networks offer only moderateatality; for example, it is not uncommon
for a corporate LAN to be down several hours eveonth.

Equipment providers for the packet-switched telemmmications network are data networking compairikesCisco Systems, Inc., 3Com
Corporation and Ascend Communications. Serviceigess for this market are mainly Internet serviceviders (ISPs).

Until recently circuit-switched networks for re@e voice and video communications have been caelgleeparate from packet-switched
data networks. For example, a typical residentiast@mer uses a different service provider andfaréifit network for Internet access and for
telephone calls. Most businesses have completpyrate networks for voice (based on a PBX) and (etsed on switches, routers and ht
Recently, however, a strong trend towards the cgaree of voice, video and data over packet-switatetworks has emerged within the
telecommunication industry, mainly focused on IBwoeks. This convergence has been enabled by ddaetars, including: the deregulatis
of the telecommunications industry, which has aldwmew competitive local exchange carriers (CLEE®s) long distance carriers to comg
with established service providers in offering pdleny services; the availability of low-cost digisggnal processing technology required for
transmission of voice over IP networks; the groofttarge-scale IP networks such as the Internet;the emergence of high-bandwidth, or
broadband, access such as cable modems and DSixteatls the ability of IP networks to carry contierhomes and businesses.

Initial applications for IP telephony focused orio& or voice-over-1P. The first VoIP product, latved in 1995, was a software package that
allowed PC users to talk for free over the InterAstreliable IP backbone connections became alailéhe VolP market focused on
applications such as IP fax and toll bypass in tvicills were routed off the PSTN and onto the ®vagk at the local exchange through
gateway equipment, and which provided reduced fatdeng distance and international calls. Regetité
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market trend has been to bring IP to the "edgehehetwork, i.e. to extend the IP component ofcéilefrom the backbone to the customer
premises.

A limiting factor for converged voice, video and@aetworks, particularly for residences and simadlinesses, has been the "last mile" of the
network connection to the customer premises fragridhal exchange of the provider of network semvié®r residential applications, the last
mile is usually a POTS telephone line, which isitéd in bitrate to 56 Kbps downstream (i.e. frora #xchange to the residence) and 33.6
Kbps upstream. Higher speed residential connectook as ISDN exist, but deployment of ISDN haststewed by limited availability and
expensive service. Recently, however, a new gréigaadband access technologies has emerged drattically increases the bandwidth
available for delivery of voice, video and databitite home. These technologies, including cableemsd DSL and high-bandwidth wireless
local loop, offer high-speed connections to thedmét (ranging from several hundred Kbps to sevasajabits per second), are relatively low
cost (typically a few hundred dollars for instateit and $40 to $80 per month for service), and Enatnultimedia IP communication. To d
the deployment of broadband access technologiebdesrelatively small with a total installed basa few million, but the deployment is
expected to accelerate over the next several yeareventually penetrate a significant fractiotdd®. households. Adding to the potential of
broadband access is the emergence of home netwdrlc) connect PCs and communication appliancestt other and to the Internet at
high speeds. These technologies will enable natitivaal telephone service providers such as capéators and ISPs to compete with
RBOCs to provide telephony services to consumerasé services will include basic dial tone, mudtiphone lines, conference calling, web-
based provisioning and billing, videoconferencing &ideo on demand.

While the value proposition for IP communicatiohas far has been to reduce the charges for distgnce voice calls, the ultimate succes
IP communications will depend on its ability to pide services and features that exceed the cayatilswitched-circuit networks. These
services and features will leverage the connegtigitalability and open architecture of the Intérfer example, IP communications allow a
customer to provision a second or third line intasise over the Internet using a standard web tpwsthout requiring a visit from an
installer or even a call to the phone company. §é¢eond or third line can be provided at a smalemental cost, allowing the customer to
save money while the service provider increasgzrdfits compared to the same scenario in thettoadil switched circuit model.

In order for the IP communications market to camio grow, several things need to occur. FirshdRvorks must improve their QoS for
real-time communications, managing effects sugbaaget jitter, packet loss and unreliable bandwidththat toll-quality service can be
provided. Second, IP communications equipment mclsieve "five-nines" reliability that users of tRETN have come to expect from their
telephone service. Third, IP communications serpimwiders must offer cost and feature benefithéir customers that are sufficient to ce
the customers to switch away from traditional thtepy service providers.

Video Monitoring

A growing number of businesses worldwide are ifisahew security systems that incorporate videmitooing or are expanding their
existing systems to include video monitoring. Totlzy most common video monitoring product is clesiduit TV (CCTV) security. Both
large and small businesses use CCTV security sgsamch the market spans a wide range of applicatindgproduct types. CCTV systems
generally installed at a business location andessthere is a guard at the location who can watlgo monitors, the systems are used str
for recording and archival purposes. The CCTV sygtecords and stores all of the activity in viewtlsd cameras. The video is typically not
viewed real time and is used to review employewiscbr as evidence in the event a crime is cagdurn tape. CCTV systems typically
consist of any number of cameras, video switchedsvédeo tape recorders.

Until recently, CCTV systems were, as the nameciugis, "closed-circuit" -- all the components a&f flystem, including the monitor, had to
be wired together and therefore, had to be in éineesgeneral location. Remote video monitoring petalallow the user to move outside the
confines imposed by a traditional closed



circuit system. By combining a traditional CCTV s with a remote video monitoring product, andraniing the resulting system to the
public telephone network, a corporate LAN or WANK some other network, the video being recordetiénGCTV system may also be
observed at a distant location.

There is a market need for cost-effective, highligueemote video monitoring products. Traditio&CTV systems by themselves do not, for
example, always provide an effective deterrenpfoblem employees since they provide no means éovitoring the premises from another
location. Studies show that dealing with employesttis the single most pressing concern held byesw of small businesses. However, s
tapes from CCTV systems are generally reviewed aftBr a major event occurs, employees do not denshemselves at risk even if an
advanced system is installed in the business. Brapmeed a way to see what is occurring at thesimess at any time, day or night, and
from any location. A system filling this need beasan effective deterrent, encouraging employeastti the same manner with or without
the owner present.

Historically, security equipment manufacturers heagponded slowly to demand for remote video mainigoproducts. Product offerings
frequently have been expensive, offered slow frapeed, required the use of specialized softwaneimgron a PC, and/or required the use of
an ISDN line. These factors have inhibited growftthe remote video monitoring market. The price washigh for mass-market acceptance,
the performance was too low for those who couldrdfft, and the need for specialized software &1 lines deterred many resellers of
security products. The Company's initial offeringlie remote video monitoring market, the RSM-18@@lule, provides a low-cost, high-
quality product using an ordinary phone line withthe use of a computer.

PRODUCTS
Broadband Telephony

The Company offers a range of technology produttsessing the broadband communications marketpRroglucts include semiconductor
software and system level products. The Compamgadband telephony semiconductor products are baséte Company's proprietary
architecture. This architecture combines, on alsiolip, a custom RISC microprocessor, a high perémce DSP core, static random access
memory and proprietary software, which togethefqver the core processing functions required by @baad telephony and other digital
communication applications. The Audacity Internetéphony Processor (ITP) combines telephony prédogith audio
compression/decompression algorithms and implemmeatsple, simultaneous Internet Protocol phonésoaih a single integrated circuit.

The Company's system level products are baseditgpproprietary semiconductor architecture andnéglly integrated gateway systems
which allow for voice and data communications dweradband networks such as cable, DSL, and LANSs.

The table below describes the Company's currestioffs in the broadband telephony area:

PRODUCT DESCRIPTIO N APPLICATIONS
Audacity ITP Communications semico nductor for - LAN audio communication systems
IP phone calls. - Cable modem audio communication
systems

- DSL audio communication systems
- Internet phone calls

Symphony VolP Module 4-line VolP gateway f or broadband - Cable modem peripheral device
networks for IP telephony
- DSL peripheral device for IP
telephony

- LAN attachment for IP telephony

- Audacity -- The Company recently announced thduction of its Audacity ITP, which is designedsupport IP based phone terminals
and gateways operating over broadband networkse®gshased



on the Audacity ITP benefit from the same RISC Bx&P technology found in the Company's VCPex pradudie Audacity ITP translates
audio signals from analog telephones into the cesg®d data format needed for real time audio trssgm over networks that use packet
protocols, including corporate LANs, WANs and théernet. Two versions of the Audacity ITP are afali: the 8x84006ARCA provides
full-duplex acoustic echo cancellation, DTMF dei@ttand generation, and SGCP or H.323 communicatiacks for up to two channels of
G.728, four channels of G.723 and up to eight chnof G.711 or G.722. The 8x84106ARCA providesitaal audio performance but adds
a graphics display channel for driving TV or LCDeens for a user interface, or for network datgraphics. Implemented in 8x8's
proprietary "dual programmable" architecture, thedAcity ITP has the flexibility of a general-purpd2ISC processor while supplying the
processing power of a single-instruction, multigetapath DSP. The RISC processor runs the usefaicéeand the SGCP or H.323
communication stacks under the control of the 8xP&rating system, which performs memory manageamahiprocess scheduling
functions. The DSP executes the audio codec, DT#tEdlion/ generation and echo cancellation routines

- Symphony -- The Symphony VolP Module, announcedpril 1999, is a four-line, VoIP gateway desigrniede used in a variety of
applications including telephony over cable and D®tworks as well as the emerging IP-PBX segmebnbuithe size of a video cassette
tape, the Symphony VolP module uses Audacity IT&elover four independent voice telephone lines dreadband IP networks. Multiple
Symphony modules may be used together for appicatiequiring more than four telephone lines.

The Symphony VolP Module connects to cable, DSL emaslor LANS via a standard Ethernet connectionitacmhnects up to four
telephones with standard RJ-11 connectors. The Bympmodule supports numerous industry standartbaadiecs including the G.711,
G.722, G.723 and G.728 audio codecs. Any codebearsed on any line, and the codecs can be chalygathically during a call. The
Symphony module also provides full-duplex acoustioo cancellation on each line. With its multi-codapability, the module can respond
to varying network congestion by switching amondiawcodecs both at the initiation of a call andalsiring a call. This ability to select
lower bandwidth codecs allows system operatorsakenthe most efficient use of their networks whilaintaining call quality. The
Symphony module supports the following call conputocols:

H.323, MGCP and the Cable Labs PacketCable Net@bekt Specification.

To date, the Company has not generated signifieseinue from its Broadband Telephony products.
Video Monitoring Products

The Company has created a new business unit tifisplg target video monitoring applications. Cently, the Company offers the RSM-
1500 Remote Surveillance Module to distributors dedlers in the security and surveillance industry.

PRODUCT DESCRIPTIO N APPLICATIONS
RSM-1500 Remote Two-way video and aud io - Remote surveillance
Surveillance Module transmission system. - Store monitoring

- Day-care, health care video
transmission

- RSM-1500 -- The RSM-1500 Remote Surveillance nimdillows anyone within reach of a touch-tone tetepe to monitor any similarly
equipped location worldwide. The RSM-1500 modulesustandard telephone lines to transmit both fallbrcmotion video and audio in real-
time, making remote surveillance of businessespmogerty both practical and cost-effective. The REBO0 module is designed with featt
tailored specifically for security and monitoringmications. These include:

automatic camera selection, automatic connectiotgemagth passcode security, Caller ID verificatielectronic pan/tilt/zoom camera control,
and a high-resolution snapshot mode, making the RS80 module usable in small business, office, rferturing facility, public safety, and
a



variety of residential applications. A black booabthe size and shape of a video cassette tap&3M-1500 module connects to a standard
telephone line and up to three in-store cameras(amultiplexer to connect additional camerag) iarfully compatible with existing CCTV
systems. Using a second RSMO0 module connected to a TV and telephone limeiate or in the office, a business owner can dialnd se
anything that is in view of the remote cameraseail-time, full-color motion video. No computer equired for operation on either end,
making the RSM-1500 module simple and reliableste. The RSM-1500 module uses the Company's LVPcsahiictor and takes
advantage of the Company's expertise in video adibarocessing, network control protocols, and effective system design and
manufacturing.

Videoconferencing Semiconductors

The Company's videoconferencing semiconductorbased on the Company's proprietary architectures. diichitecture combines, on a
single chip, a custom RISC microprocessor, a higtiopmance DSP core, static random access memadrpraprietary software, which
together perform the core processing functionsiredy video communication and other digital vidgplications. The VCP, LVP and
VCPex semiconductors also include specialized vteaessing circuitry.

The table below describes the Company's videocenéémg semiconductors and their applications:

PRODUCT DESCRIPTIO N APPLICATIONS
VCP Video Communications  H.320 compression sem iconductor - PC ISDN video communication
Processor for ISDN video commun ication add-in boards
systems; or H.323 Sem iconductor - ISDN group video communication
for LAN Videoconferen cing systems systems
or Internet phone cal Is. - LAN video communication systems

- Internet phone calls

LVP Low bit-rate Videophone H.324 compression sem iconductor - Consumer video telephones for
Processor for POTS video commun ication POTS
systems - PC videophone add-in boards for
Compression semicondu ctor for POTS
video capture and enc oding - Cameras with embedded
systems compression

- Video capture PC add-in boards

VCPex Enhanced Video Successor product to the VCP and - See VCP and LVP applications
Communications Processor  LVP above

VPIC Video to PCI Interface Interface chip which connects the - PC (POTS, ISDN or LAN-based)
Chip VCP/LVP devices to th e PCI Bus video communication boards

- VCP --Video Communications Processor. The Company's MGR integrated video communication semiconduetbich allows OEMs t
develop video communication systems based on tB2dHstandard for ISDN video communication or onkh&23 standard for LAN video
communication. In recent quarters, the VCP accaliftethe majority of the Company's semiconductadpict sales. The Company's
proprietary RISC and DSP technology allows a siifl# semiconductor to compress and decompress aidep to 30 frames per second
transmission over ISDN or high speed LAN netwoilige VCP semiconductor includes video processinguitity that compresses and
decompresses video images. Systems designed usitiglen'VCPs are capable of providing full-dupleiieo quality approaching that of a
television. The VCP can reside on PC add-in carden-PC based corporate conference room systems.

- LVP -- Low bit-rate Videophone Processor. The L&&Miconductor is designed to support H.324 bagkbphones using standard POTS
phone lines. Systems based on the LVP semicondbetwfit from the same RISC and DSP technologyddarihe Company's VCP produ
and are designed to deliver video at up to 15 feapae second over a standard POTS telephone lireeL VP semiconductor can be designed
into systems in a variety of form factors, incluglimon-PC based



systems that utilize a telephone and either aigt@vor LCD display. The LVP semiconductor carodie designed into PC videophone add-
in boards and used for multimedia compression eatitins which require high processing power to casp high bandwidth digital video,
such as cameras with embedded compression, PGidudvids for video capture and editing and CD-R@M development. The LVP
semiconductor is the core video communication sendactor inside the Company's ViaTV and Video Moriitg products.

- VCPex. The Company has begun production shipmadrits VCPex semiconductor, which is the successdas VCP and LVP
semiconductors. The VCPex semiconductor provideatgr functionality and operates at greater spieasthe VCP and LVP
semiconductors. Many of 8x8's customers who hasterydesigns based on the Company's VCP chip aetopéng new systems based
upon the VCPex semiconductor.

- VPIC -- Video to PCI Interface Chip. The VPIC seanductor is a companion semiconductor to the Gomgjs multimedia communication
semiconductors. The VPIC semiconductor providesextinterface between the Company's compressonconductors and the high speed
PCI expansion bus found in PCs. By providing adipath into the PC's graphic display memory, tiRéG/semiconductor allows PC board
designers to improve the performance and qualithef designs based on the Company's multimediamanication semiconductors.

Semiconductor Reference Design

The Company sells reference designs, based ondimp&hy's semiconductors, that serve as prototygtersyproducts. These reference
designs allow a customer to leverage the Compaggtem design expertise and accelerate its timeattet with new products. Each
reference design is provided with schematics, ceteplocumentation, video processor software antbesel software diagnostics.

Application Software

The Company sells its semiconductors with its pegary application specific software to addressgpecific system requirements of various
international audio, video and other telephony cemication standards. This software, which is a doatipn of microcode assembly and C
firmware, enables the Company's proprietary sentigotor architecture to implement multiple compressitandards and network protocols
such as H.320, H.323, H.324, MPEG, TCP/IP, and SGCmany cases, by enhancing its application soiwthe Company can improve the
quality of transmitted audio and video, addressrging standards and add features to its existingj@®ductor and system products. Certain
of the Company's software may be ported to othetfgeims such as PCs or embedded controllers. Thep@oy supplies an Application
Programmers Interface (API) with its software towllimited customization through an external mpmmcessor or host controller. The
Company also sells licenses for the source codisfgpftware to customers who wish to modify tbétvgare by adding their own features
controls. Development kits are also licensed tdaauers allowing them to write, compile and devedoftware for the Company's proprietary
semiconductor architecture.

ViaTV Consumer Videophones

The Company developed a line of consumer videoppoo@ucts that have been marketed and sold underitTV brand name. The
Company announced in April 1999 that due to thé lsigst of maintaining a consumer distribution crentihe slower than expected growth
rate of the consumer videophone market, and thgytoss margins typical of a consumer electronicslpet, the Company would cease
production of the ViaTV product line and withdrasmeif its distribution channels over the subsequewtisl quarters. There will be a
transition period during which the Company will$ling its remaining inventory of the productsatingh select channels, both retail and
direct. The Company also plans to seek out OEM



opportunities for its ViaTV videophone technologiievever possible. * The table below lists thoselpots currently being offered.

PRODUCT DESCRIPTIO N FEATURES
ViaTV Model VC105 Set-top H.324 set-top videoph one - Built-in video camera
Videophone requiring connection toa - Accessory port input
television and touch- tone phone.
ViaTV Model VC150 Desktop H.324 videophone requ iring - Built-in video camera
Videophone connection to a touch -tone - Built-in 4-inch LCD display
telephone. - Accessory port input

The Company's ViaTV videophones connect to a stangach-tone telephone and add video to an otiserwdbrmal telephone call, without
the need for a PC. The ViaTV videophones are design be compliant with the H.324 internationahsdiad for video telephony over POTS
and to be compatible with PC and ne@-based systems that adhere to the H.324 staridaddition, the ViaTV videophones are designe
communicate with full duplex audio and video ratésip to 15 frames per second. The ViaTV videoplsare based on the Company's
proprietary semiconductor and software technoloyyiaclude a V.34 modem and display video on tispldy screen in several sizes, as well
as in a simultaneous remote and self-view modeitiael features include caller ID, electronic pgdtizoom, snapshot mode, video privacy
mode and an auto-answer feature with an optiortalrigg password. The ViaTV videophones are corgbthrough the touch-tone keypad of
the user's telephone and menu driven instructioaisappear on the video display screen.

The VC105 videophone requires the use of a tel@vias the display, while the VC150 videophone idetia built-in four-inch LCD video
display. The VC105 and VC150 videophones each aoathuilt-in color video camera. Particular aspetfteach product are as follows:

- VC105 Set-top Videophone. The VC105 Set-top Vjgteme is the successor to the Company's initiaoptione product, the VC100
videophone, which was first sold in February 198i7e VC105 videophone requires the use of a telmvias a display and it contains a built-
in digital video camera. It is simple to installdamse and is targeted primarily for home and simadiness video communication use.

- VC150 Desktop Videophone. The VC150 Desktop Vteme, which the Company first shipped in March8.88ntains a built-in fouinch
LCD display and a built-in digital camera. As aukesit merely requires connection to a touolne telephone. The VC150 is suited for des
or countertop use in a home or business environment

Since the Company has discontinued productiorsdfia TV videophones, the ability of the Companyémerate future revenues from this
product line are highly uncertain.* The Compangusrently attempting to sell its existing inventarfyVViaTV products.

TECHNOLOGY
The Company has developed the following technokgie
Semiconductor Architecture

The Company's digital and multimedia communicaemiconductors share a common programmable arttiéethat enables
implementation of multimedia communication applicas in a highly efficient

* This statement is a forward looking statemeniiesting current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing” commencing on page Conipetition” commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSolisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of cefttors that could affect future
performance.



manner. In such an application, a multimedia conination terminal must compress and transmit onawtiple sources of audio, video,
graphics and/or other data while simultaneouslgixieg and decompressing similar data from a reraotece. The Company's
semiconductor architecture integrates two coregsears that run in parallel: a 32-bit RISC micr@essor and a 64-bit Single Instruction
Multiple Data (SIMD) DSP.

The Company's VCP and LVP semiconductors currénthroduction are manufactured using 0.5 microfay@&r metal complementary metal
oxide semiconductor (CMOS) process technology,emtie VCPex and Audacity semiconductors are matwizat using 0.35 micron, et
metal CMOS process technology. The VCP and LVP semiuctors operate at 5 volts, while the VCPex/Andacity semiconductors
operate at 3.3 volts. Future generations the Cogpaemiconductors will likely be based on a 0.26ram, 4-layer metal CMOS process
technology and are expected to operate at 3.3.vdlk&e Company may take advantage of further pmesbsinks for its semiconductors as
they become available.*

The Company's RISC processor core uses a propriattruction set specifically designed for multulieecommunication applications. The
RISC core in the VCP and LVP semiconductors opextfeequencies up to 36 MHz, while the RISC corthe VCPex and Audacity
semiconductors operates at 40 MHz. The RISC cangas the overall chip operation and managesrthatioutput interface through a
variety of specialized ports which connect the dahipctly to external host, audio and network sgbews. This core is programmable in th
programming language and allows customers to agld dlwvn features and functionality to the devicévgare provided by the Company. The
RISC core accesses 32-bit instructions and datagfira bus that interfaces to external static randocess memory (SRAM).

The Company's DSP core is a SIMD processor thaeimgnts computationally intensive video, audio graphics processing routines as
well as certain digital communications protocolee DSP core in the VCP and LVP semiconductors ogeet frequencies up to 72 MHz,
while the VCPex and Audacity DSP cores operat®adlBiz. The DSP core is programmable with a progrietnstruction set consisting of
variable-length 32-bit and 64-bit microcode instioms that provide the flexibility to improve algthm performance, enhance video and/or
audio quality and maintain compliance with changiigjtal video, audio, graphics and communicatioot@col standards. The DSP cores
access their instructions through an internal hasinterfaces to 8 kilobytes of on-chip SRAM ankilBbytes of on-chip read-only memory
(ROM) that is preprogrammed with video and audiacpssing subroutines.

The RISC and DSP cores combine to provide an efficind flexible architecture that can be recoméduhrough a change of application
software. This flexibility allows the architectu@implement the fundamental processing stepsfonat the basis of SGCP/MGCP and H.323
standards-based audio telephony systems and H43283 and H.324 (together, H.32x) standards-bagb\communication systems.

The Company's semiconductors contain hardware-@atetl data pre- and post-processing capabilit@snanage the flow of multimedia
information through the system and provide an fater to various network, telephony, and/or videptuge and display devices. These
capabilities include direct memory access (DMA)roiels, memory control functions, bus control fuoieti, and filtering and scaling
algorithms.

The Company's semiconductors contain interfactiset@xternal devices that comprise a typical digitaltimedia communication system.
These interfaces include digital video and/or aymtids, a programmable serial port (for commundgatiia a synchronous digital interface)
and a host port (for communication with a PC orrogontroller). In addition, the semiconductors eamimemory bus interfaces to external
SRAM for

* This statement is a forward looking statemeniiesting current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing” commencing on page Conipetition” commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSelismmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.
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access to stored RISC instruction and data angtéoreal dynamic random access memory (DRAM) foreasdo stored audio, video and/or
graphics data.

Embedded Software

The Company has developed a broad range of agphcstftware that runs on the Company's semicowodyrbducts. The Company's
application software allows the use of its semicanadrs in systems that conform with various emeggind established international digital
video, audio, graphics and communication protoel@ghony standards. By refining its software, tlen@any can enhance quality, address
new standards and add significant features andifuradity to systems that contain the semiconduptoduct. In addition, certain of the
Company's customers have licensed source codeith Wiey add proprietary features, custom integaaned, in some cases, algorithm
improvements.

The Company's software can be categorized as fsilow

- Control protocols that run on the RISC and manage control, call negotiation, call progress anxing and separation of audio, video and
other data.

- Audio and video codec routines that run on th&DS
- Digital communication and network protocols therface to external communications networks agPOTS, ISDN and Ethernet LAN.

- Development tools such as compilers, assemblersi@buggers that allow the Company and customensite new applications and mod
existing applications.

Algorithm Expertise

The Company has devoted significant resourceswelde audio and video codec algorithms to meet meaerging and established
international telephony and video transmissiondaaahs. While most of these standards clearly sp#od syntax requirements of a standards-
compliant decoder, and thus what constitutes @ edcoded bitstream, they do not specify the metihgdvhich an encoder generates such a
bitstream. The flexibility of the Company's multidi@ communication semiconductor architecture alltvesCompany to apply its core
algorithm expertise to develop products for a wgrad digital and multimedia communication appliocats.

The Company's algorithm expertise enables thefartig:

- Parallel Audio Coding and Processing Applicatiofise Company's proprietary implementations of daads-based audio compression
algorithms and support applications (such as atoesho cancellation, tone detection and signaégaion) allow systems that contain the
Company's semiconductors to run several channéR teflephony in parallel on a single device.

- Video Coding Efficiency and Video Quality. The i@pany's proprietary motion search, mode decisiahrate buffer control algorithms
enhance video quality for Video Monitoring and conmitation applications.

- Integrated Control of Real-Time Systems. Digéat multimedia communication systems are inherarttgplex due to the convergence of
video, audio, network and control information. T®empany's proprietary semiconductor architectutecamtrol software manage these
varying data streams in concert, thereby redudieg-bmplexity of the external system design. Initaatd the Company's single-chip control
of audio and/or video data in certain applicatiprevides for audio/video synchronization and mimation of transmission latency.

- Robustness to Varying Network Conditions. Digdaall multimedia communication systems must intertacmetworks with transmission
characteristics that vary over time. These charstites can cause network bandwidth to change andesult in the loss or corruption of
transmitted information. The Company has develapeadrol algorithms that adapt to changes in netvbakdwidth and that recover or
conceal the loss or corruption of data in a way teduces negative perceptual effects on the user.
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- Implementation of Network Communications Protecdlhe Company has developed expertise in impléntgehbth physical layer
communications protocols (such as the V.34 modamdsird) and low layer network management protgsoish as TCP/IP) as software
modules on its programmable semiconductors. Inztusf these modules in the Company's applicatifiwvaoe running on its programmable
semiconductors leads to cost reduction and effogi@mprovements in the resulting communication eyt products.

System Design

The Company has developed expertise in integrasregmiconductors and software with peripheral ponents to produce complete digital
telephony and multimedia communication systems. Ctmpany's system technology consists of modulasysiems that can be combined
and rearranged to interface to various networksh(sis POTS, ISDN, Ethernet LAN and home networkd)ta interface to various telepha
devices, such as the analog phones in a homediticaad the Video Monitoring products connect tde® input and display devices which
allows video data to be transmitted across vanmiworks. The Company's system design expertidedas design and testing for national
and international regulatory requirements suchoasumer safety, public telephone network requirdsand electromagnetic emissions.

CUSTOMERS AND MARKETING

The Company markets its OEM semiconductor, systenaasociated software products through its owactigales force as well as through
distributors. The Company sells its VCP and VCRaxisonductors and related software and referensigie primarily to OEMs of ISDN
office videoconferencing systems that use the H8RDH.323 standards, including PictureTel CorponaiSiemens AG, Sony Electronics,
Inc., VideoServer, Inc., VCON Telecommunicationd.land VTEL Corporation. The Company sells its L&&Pniconductors and related
software and reference board designs to OEMs of$@deo communication systems for the consumer etarking the H.324 standard, s
as Kyushu Matsushita Electric Co., Ltd. (KME), L&sldResearch, Inc., and Truedox Technology Corfmrathe Company is selling its
Audacitysemiconductor and Symphony module prodiecc@EMs of broadband network equipment such as faaturers of carrier-class
gateway systems, cable and DSL modems and PBX metnuérs. To date, the Company has not generajaifisant revenue from its
Audacity or Symphony products.

The Company markets its RSM-1500 Remote Survedaodule through its own direct sales force as welthrough authorized distributors
and dealers. The Company uses distributors suéibdand Sprint North Supply to market its produtisa wide range of security dealers
who in turn market the product to end-users. Cettige dealers purchase product directly fromGbmpany.

Historically, the Company marketed its ViaTV prothuthrough retail channels, catalogs, and distoilsutThe Company also sold its ViaTV
products through a direct marketing effort utilgia combination of advertising and toll-free teleketing in the United States and the United
Kingdom. In conjunction with the Company's disttiims and resellers, the ViaTV products have be&hia@ number of countries
throughout North America, Europe and Asia. The Canypannounced in April 1999 that due to the higét of maintaining a consumer
distribution channel, and the limited growth ratéh® consumer videophone market, the Company woegde production of the ViaTV
product line and withdraw from its distribution cimels over the subsequent several quarters. Thkteeva transition period during which

the Company will be marketing its remaining invewtof the products through select channels, bdtilrand direct. The Company also plans
to seek out OEM opportunities for its consumer gjoleone technology wherever possible, includingnisteg and/or private labeling
arrangements.*

* This statement is a forward looking statemeniiesting current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing” commencing on page Conipetition” commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSalismmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.
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The Company's direct sales force supports domastidnternational sales and operates from the Coyypaeadquarters in Santa Clara,
California and a European office in London, Englafisl of March 31, 1999, the Company employed 4 8ques in sales and marketing. These
persons provide account support for direct, OEMitritiutor and retail channel customers of the Camijsgproducts. In addition, these
persons staff the Company's telemarketing and sadaustomer support efforts for its RSM-1500 amlV products. The Company's sales
and marketing personnel typically provide suppoiits OEM, distributor and retail channel custontersugh sales literature, periodic
training, customer symposia, pre-sales supporj@ntisales calls. The Company utilizes severalketmg programs to support the sale and
distribution of its products, including participari in industry trade shows and conferences. Thepgaomalso publishes technical articles,
distributes sales and product literature and hasctine public relations plan to encourage coveaighe Company's products and technology
by the media. In relation to its RSM-1500 and Viapducts, the Company has utilized advertisingrint media and on television and

radio, in some cases in conjunction with its OEMtrébutor and retail channel customers.

Historically, a significant portion of the Compasigales has been to relatively few customers, adthdhe composition of these customers
varied. Revenues from the Company's ten largesogss in the fiscal years ended March 31, 19998 Hhd 1997 accounted for
approximately 40%, 61% and 61%, respectively,ofdtal revenues. During the year-ended March 3291no customer accounted for 10%
or more of total revenues. 3Com accounted for 20%nd the year ended March 31, 1998, and ASCIIGbmpany's former distributor in
Japan, accounted for 13% during the year endediV&kc1997. The loss of, or any reduction in orden®, a significant customer, or any
general decline in the market for multimedia comioation products, could have a material adversecefin the Company's business and
operating results.

Sales to customers outside of the United Statessepted 43%, 47% and 54% of total revenues ifidbal years ended March 31, 1999,
1998 and 1997, respectively. Specifically, salesustomers in the Asia Pacific region represent®d,25% and 33% of the Company's total
revenues for the years ended March 31, 1999, 1888897, respectively, while sales to customeisurope represented 17%, 22% and 21%
of the Company's total revenues for the same periedpectively.

COMPETITION

The Company competes with both manufacturers dafadigignal processing semiconductors and gatewagiycts developed for the growing
VolP marketplace. The Company also competes withufis@turers of multimedia communication semicondisstand systems. The markets
for the Company's products are characterized Bns# competition, declining average selling prared rapid technological change.

Broadband Telephony and Videoconferencing Semicondtors

The principal competitive factors in the market liooadband telephony and videoconferencing semiatinds include product definition,
product design, system integration, chip size, fionality, time-tomarket, adherence to industry standards, pricaarability. The Compan
has a number of competitors in this market inclgdmalog Devices, Audio Codes, Broadcom Corporationexent, DSP Group, Lucent
Technologies, Motorola, Inc., Neo Paradigm LabslifzhElectronics, Telogy Networks, Texas Instrunigenc. and Winbond Electronics.
Certain of the Company's competitors for broadktetephony and videoconferencing semiconductors taiaitheir own semiconductor
foundries and may therefore benefit from certaipacity, cost and technical advantages.

Principle competitive factors in the market for Pajateway products include product definition, piiddesign, system integration, system
functionality, time-to-market, interoperability Wwicommon network equipment, adherence to indusarydsirds, price and reliability.
Currently there are a large number of system sapgpbffering carrier-class gateway products suchsaend Communications, Inc., Cisco
Systems, Inc., Clarent Corporation, Nokia CorporatiNortel Networks, Nuera Communications, Inc.|Jéablrec Communications, and
Lucent Technologies. At this time there is limitgnpetition in the residential and small office Palateway market. The Company expects,
however, that this market will be characterizedritgnse
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competition, declining average selling price anuddechnology change. In addition, the presendd@Company in the VolP systems
business may result in certain customers or p@tetistomers perceiving the Company as a competitpotential competitor, which may be
used by other semiconductor manufacturers to Husiantage.

Video Monitoring and ViaTV Products

The competitive factors in the market for the ConymRSM-1500 and ViaTV products include audio aigeo quality, acceptable phone
line transmission rates, ability to connect andntzain stable connections, ease of use, price, atoenabling technologies, product design,
time-to-market, adherence to industry standardsraperability, strength of distribution channedsstomer support, reliability and brand
name. The Company expects intense competitiorifd® $M-1500 module and faces ongoing competitionit$dviaTV products as it exits
that product area. Competition is expected from:

- Large security equipment manufacturers. The Comppaay face intense competition for its Video Moning products from many well
known, established suppliers of security equipm&nth as Pelco, and Ultrek Electronics Limited wahge continually reduced the cost of
their products and may enter the market for lovest ¥ideo communication products.

- Personal computer system and software manufastuPetential customers for the Company's RSM-Es@DViaTV products may elect
instead to buy PCs pre-equipped with video comnatiun software capabilities or a third-party softevapplication for use on a PC. As a
result, the Company faces or may face competitiomfintel, and PC software suppliers such as Maftpsletscape, Javelin and Prism.

ADVIS, InnoMedia PTE Ltd., C-Phone Corporation, sk Research, Inc., Truedox Technology Corporadiuh Video Communication
Systems GmbH are among the companies selling Istwideophones, some targeted specifically at itieovmonitoring marketplace. Other
companies have announced the development of lotw@tesophones. The Company expects that additiooralpanies will introduce produc
that compete with the RSM-1500 and ViaTV produntthie future. * Certain manufacturers or potentiahufacturers of low cost
videophones have licensed or purchased, or mayskcer purchase, the Company's technology and sechictors in order to do so. KME
and 3Com in particular have licensed substantallpf the technology underlying the ViaTV, and mese such technology to introduce
products that compete with the RSM-1500 or ViaTw¥durcts. Each of Leadtek Research, Inc. and Trug&écknology Corporation license
the Company's technology and purchase the Compdidgeconferencing semiconductors. The Companyesgively licenses its
semiconductor, software and systems technologysaltglits semiconductor and system products td tharties. Thus, it is likely that
additional of the Company's OEM customers will bmeccompetitors with respect to the Company's RSPRIE ViaTV products business.
Other competitors may purchase multimedia commuigicaemiconductors and related technology froneosuppliers.

The Company's reliance on developing verticallggnated technology, comprising systems, circuitti®asoftware and semiconductors,
places a significant strain on the Company ancegarch and development resources. Competitdriothes on one aspect of technology,
such as systems or semiconductors, may have adeoakle advantage over the Company. In additiomymn&the Company's current and
potential competitors have longer operating hisgrare substantially larger, and have greatendiaf manufacturing, marketing, technical
and other resources. Many also have greater natognition and a larger installed base of produwds the Company. Competition in the
Company's markets may result in significant prisductions. As a result of their greater resounges)y current and potential competitors
may

* This statement is a forward looking statemeniiesting current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing” commencing on page Conipetition” commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSelisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.
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be better able than the Company to initiate antistéind significant price competition or downtunngtie economy. There can be no
assurance that the Company will be able to contiaw®mpete effectively, and any failure to do smld have a material adverse effect on
the Company's business and operating results.

MANUFACTURING

The Company outsources the manufacturing of its@@mmuctors and its Broadband Telephony, Video Mwirig and ViaTV system

products to independent foundries and subcontraaufacturers, respectively. The Company's primamisonductor manufacturer is Taiw
Semiconductor Manufacturing Corporation. Subcontn@@nufacturers include EFA Corporation in Taiwad &lash Electronics in Fremont,
California. The Company also relies on Amkor/Anafladionics in South Korea for packaging and testifijs semiconductors. The
Company does not have long term purchase agreemvéhtis subcontract manufacturers or its composeppliers. There can be no
assurance that the Company's subcontract manufestwill be able or willing to reliably manufactutee Company's products, or that the
Company's component suppliers will be able or mgflto reliably supply components for the Compapyslucts, in volumes, on a cost
effective basis or in a timely manner. The Comparay experience difficulties due to its relianceimttependent semiconductor foundries,
subcontract manufacturers and component suppliatcbuld have a material adverse effect on thegaoiyls business and operating results.

In addition, from time to time the Company may &sswn-cancelable purchase orders to its thady manufacturers for raw materials use
its Video Monitoring or other potential system Iepeoducts to ensure availability for long lead-¢iems or to take advantage of favorable
pricing terms. If the Company should experienceresed demand for its Video Monitoring productfuture system level products, the
Company would still be required to take deliveryaofl make payment for such raw materials. In tlemeef a significant decrease in system
level product demand, such purchase commitmentsl ¢ttave a material adverse effect on the Compdmugiess and operating results.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

As of March 31, 1999, the Company had 51 emplogegsaged in research and development. Researcheaatbgment expenses in the ye
ended March 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 were $9.9omjl$12.3 million and $10.5 million, respectivéljhe Company's development of new
products and the enhancement of existing prodaatssgential to its success. Accordingly, the Compparicipates that research and
developments expenses will continue to increaslkdrioreseeable future. However, such expensedlowyate from quarter to quarter
depending on a wide range of factors, includingstia¢us of and prospects for various developmesjegis.

The Company's current and future research and aewent efforts relating primarily to digital and Hixmedia communication
semiconductors have and will continue to focusten@ompany's next generations of these producesasfef emphasis will include enhanced
versions of its digital communication semicondu@uarhitectures intended to provide higher perforoeaenhanced functionality and further
integration of certain essential system functiofi$fs integration is designed to permit improvedtsyn price/performance. Future software
developments may focus on emerging audio and viglephony standards and protocols, quality andopeidnce enhancements to
multimedia compression algorithms and additionatidess supporting both the Company's Broadbandfietey and Video Monitoring
products.

Research and development efforts relating to thagamy's Broadband Telephony products are directedrts the addition of features,
network protocols and audio enhancements to sysudrith include the Audacity semiconductor and SyorphVolP module. To expand its
line of telephony products, the Company

* This statement is a forward looking statemenleding current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing" commencing on page Canipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSalisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of cefttors that could affect future
performance.
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is developing new form factors, network topologaesl embedded systems that are designed to comiblyneiiv and emerging IP telephony
standards.*

The Company also intends to commit significant aesie and development resources to developing additproducts for Video Monitoring
applications, including the addition of IP commuations components such as streaming video ovdntamet.*

If the Company is unable to develop and introduse or enhanced products in a timely manner, ardhanew or enhanced products do not
achieve sufficient market acceptance, it would heaweaterial adverse effect on the Company's busimed operating results.

LICENSING AND DEVELOPMENT ARRANGEMENTS

The Company has entered into licensing and devedoparrangements with its customers to promotedsegn, development, manufacture
and sale of the Company's products. In order towage the use of its semiconductors, the Compasyitensed portions of its systems
technology and software object code for its sendoeiors to virtually all of its semiconductor cusiers. Moreover, many of the Company's
OEM customers have licensed portions of the sotwde to its software for its semiconductors. Thenfany intends to continue to license
its semiconductor, software and systems techndlogyher companies, many of which are current ¢emiial competitors of the Company.*
Such arrangements may enable these companies tocuS@mpany's technology to produce productsabapete with the Company's
Broadband Telephony and Video Monitoring products.

The Company has also licensed the right to manufactertain of its multimedia communication semibactors, subject to payment of
royalties, to several videoconferencing systemsufamturers. In addition, the Company has licensetigns of its multimedia
communication semiconductor technology to ESS Teldgy. Of these licensees, ESS Technology mayseeticonductors based on the
licensed technology to third parties, while theeotlicensees are limited to sale of such semicandsias part of multimedia communication
systems or subystems. The obligation of ESS Technology to paglt@s to the Company with regard to the saleeofisonductors based
the licensed technology will expire in October 2000

In the years ended March 31, 1999, 1998 and 1@@Ffinblogy licensing revenues (all of which wereneonrring) were $5.5 million, $14.5
million and $3.9 million, respectively. There caamo assurance that the Company will receive duehding revenues in the future.

The Company has in the past licensed and in theduxpects to continuing licensing its technoltmgthers, many of whom are located or
may be located abroad.* There are no assurancestitia licensees will protect the Company's teaimofrom misappropriation.

In addition to licensing its technology to othdtee Company from time to time will take a licenseothers' technology. The Company relies
upon certain technology, including hardware andwsfe, licensed from third parties. The loss ofinability to maintain, existing licenses
could have a material adverse effect on the Conipdusiness and operating results.

EMPLOYEES

As of March 31, 1999, the Company employed a witd46 people, including 29 in manufacturing opierat, 51 in research and
development, 47 in sales and marketing and 19rnegand administrative capacities. In April 198 Company announced that it would
cease production of the ViaTV product line.

* This statement is a forward looking statemeniiesting current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing” commencing on page Conipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSolisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of cefttors that could affect future
performance.
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At that time, the Company reduced the total nunab@mployees to 126. The decrease in headcountduagprimarily to lower personnel
requirements for the sale and manufacture of ViaTWe Company also employs a number of temporapl@mes and consultants on a
contract basis.

FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT FUTURE RESULTS

The following factors as well as the factors disatsabove under the headings "Competition" and tNéanturing” should be considered in
conjunction with the information in this Report Borm 10-K.

HISTORY OF LOSSES; UNCERTAINTY OF FUTURE PROFITABIL ITY

The Company recorded operating losses of $20.20miéind $13.6 million in the years ended MarchI®99 and 1997, respectively, and
operating losses in three of the four quarterssicaf 1998. The Company would not have been phdétan fiscal 1998 had it not received
nonrecurring license and other revenues. Revetuesidted from $19.1 million in fiscal 1997 to $&%nillion in fiscal 1998 to $31.7 million
in fiscal 1999. In view of the Company's historiopkrating losses, there can be no assurancénth@ompany will be able to achieve
profitability on either an annual or quarterly lzasi

NO ASSURANCE OF FUTURE LICENSE AND OTHER REVENUES

The Company has in the past received substantiahtees from licensing of technology. License argeotevenues, all of which were
nonrecurring, were $5.5 million, $14.5 million a$8.9 million in the fiscal years ended March 319991998 and 1997, respectively. There
can be no assurance that the Company will receiwenues from licensing of its technology in thaifat which could have a material adverse
effect on the Company's business and operatindtsesu

DISCONTINUATION OF VIATV PRODUCT LINE

The Company announced in April 1999 that it wowddse production of the ViaTV product line and wittvd from its distribution channels
over the subsequent several quarters. In fisca® 898 1998, ViaTV and revenues represented 49988¥dof product revenues,

respectively. With the discontinuation of produatid is not clear how much, if any, revenue ther(any will be able to generate from
selling its existing inventories of ViaTV's. The i@pany does not expect to be able to generate resdnom its other products to compensate
for the loss of ViaTV revenues for at least thetrteselve months, if at all.* If the Company canmatequately compensate for lower revenues
with decreased manufacturing overhead expensewiimtbwer operating expenses, it could have a nadtadverse effect on the Company's
business and operating results.

In fiscal 1999, the Company recognized a $5.7 amiléxpense associated with valuing the ViaTV inegnat the current estimated fair
market value. The Company's discontinuation ofstile of ViaTV's may also result in higher levelpodduct returns, the necessity of
granting price protection to resellers, more leggtteivable collection cycles and higher warrasagts, which may have a material adverse
effect on the Company's business and operatindgtsefithe Company is unable to sell the remaiigTV inventory in a timely manner, at
or above the estimated fair market value, it wdgle a material adverse effect on the Companyisdmssand operating results. At March
31, 1999, the ViaTV inventory was recorded on tleen@any's financial statements at a value of $2|bom.i

The Company's operating results historically hasernbsubject to increased seasonality with saldsehiduring the Company's third fiscal
quarter, corresponding to the Christmas shoppiag@e The Company's discontinuation of ViaTV praducay result in substantially
different patterns in operating results.

* This statement is a forward looking statemenleding current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing" commencing on page Canipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSalisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of cefttors that could affect future
performance.
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DEPENDENCE ON FUTURE BROADBAND TELEPHONY REVENUE

The Company believes that its business and futtoigbility will be largely dependent on widespdemarket acceptance of its Broadband
Telephony products.* Neither the Company's Videdemncing Semiconductor business nor its Video Muwitg business have provided,
nor are they expected to provide sufficient reverntoeprofitably operate the Company. To date, thm@any has not sold any significant
guantities of broadband telephony products. IfGlenpany is not able to generate revenue sellirgtiveg broadband telephony market, it
would have a material adverse effect on the Conipdiysiness and operating results.

POTENTIAL FLUCTUATIONS IN FUTURE OPERATING RESULTS

The Company's historical operating results havetdilated significantly and will likely continue ttu€tuate in the future. On an annual and a
quarterly basis there are a number of factorsrttat affect the operating results of the Companyyyna which are outside the Company's
control. These include, but are not limited to,raes in market demand, the timing of customer grdmmpetitive market conditions, leng
sales cycles, regulatory approval cycles, new proatroductions by the Company or its competitonayket acceptance of new or existing
products, the cost and availability of componetiits,mix of the Company's customer base and satemels, the mix of products sold, the
management of inventory, the level of internatissales, continued compliance with industry stanslardti general economic conditions.

The Company's gross margin is affected by a numbfctors including, product mix, the recognitiofilicense and other revenues for which
there may be no or little corresponding cost oeraies, product pricing, the allocation betweernrinaonal and domestic sales, the
percentage of direct sales and sales to resedledsmanufacturing and component costs. The mafdetese Company's products are
characterized by falling average selling pricese Ctompany expects that, as a result of compefitigesures and other factors, gross profit as
a percentage of revenue for the Company's semictodproducts will likely decrease for the foreddeduture.* The market for IP
telephony semiconductors is likely to be a highumoé market characterized by commodity pricing. Toeenpany will not be able to generate
ASP's or gross margins for its Broadband Teleprsamiiconductors similar to those that it has histdly commanded for its
videoconferencing semiconductors. In addition,ghess margins for the Company's Video Monitorind 8noadband systems products are,
and will likely continue to be, substantially lowthian the gross margins for its semiconductorthérlikely event that the Company
encounters significant price competition in the ke#s for its products, the Company could be agaicant disadvantage compared to its
competitors, many of which have substantially greedsources, and therefore may be better ablétstand an extended period of
downward pricing pressure.

Variations in timing of sales may cause significmttuations in future operating results. In attgit because a significant portion of the
Company's business may be derived from orders gllage limited number of large customers, includdigM customers, the timing of such
orders can also cause significant fluctuationb&én@ompany's operating results. For example, 3@drith purchased approximately 34% of
ViaTV videophones sold by the Company in the yewmteel March 31, 1998, has not ordered additionalywts from the Company since
delivery of its purchases in the quarter ended Béez 31, 1997. Anticipated orders from customerg fahto materialize. Delivery
schedules may be deferred or canceled for a nuailveasons, including changes in specific custamguirements or international economic
conditions. The adverse impact of a shortfall im @ompany's revenues may be magnified by the Coytgamability to adjust spending to
compensate for such shortfall. Announcements byCthmpany or its competitors of new products antinetogies could cause customers to
defer purchases of the Company's

* This statement is a forward looking statemenleding current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing" commencing on page Conipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSalisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.
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existing products, which would also have a matexiblerse effect on the Company's business andtoperasults.

The Company's products have lead times of up teraémonths, and are built to forecasts that acesmarily imprecise. Because of the
Company's practice of building its products to segily imprecise forecasts, it is likely that,rfréime to time, the Company will have either
excess or insufficient product inventory. In partar, the Company had significant inventory quaesiof its ViaTV products, both on hand
and at its retail distributors when the Companyaliginued production in April 1999. In the fourthagter ended March 31, 1999, cost of
product revenues included a $5.7 million chargeaased with the write off of inventories relatedthe Company's decision to cease
production of its ViaTV product line. At March 31999, the ViaTV inventory was recorded at a valu®25 million. Because retailers and
other distributors may have contractual rightsriogprotection if the Company decreases the ggfliice, and because the Company may
need to significantly decrease the selling pricedibexisting ViaTV inventory, the Company's cobsuch inventory may exceed the
Company's actual selling price. Excess inventovglewill subject the Company to the risk of invamtobsolescence and the risk that the
Company's selling prices may drop below the Comjganyentory costs, while insufficient levels off@ntory may negatively affect relations
with customers. Any of these factors could haveatenial adverse effect on the Company's operaéinglts and business.

As a result of these and other factors, it is jikblat in some future period the Company's opegatisults will be below the expectations of
securities analysts or investors, which would jikelsult in a significant reduction in the markete for the Company's common stock.*

NEED FOR ADDITIONAL CAPITAL

The Company believes that it will be able to futahped expenditures and satisfy its cash requir&sifenat least the next twelve months
from cash flow from operations, if any, and exigtoash balances. As of March 31, 1999, the Compadyapproximately $15.8 million in
cash and cash equivalents. However, the Compamgrilyr estimates that it will be required to ragghlitional financing at some point during
calendar year 2000.* The Company will be evaluatingncing alternatives prior to that time. Thelgacan be no assurance that the
Company will not seek to exploit business oppottasithat will require it to raise additional cagpifrom equity or debt sources to finance its
growth and capital requirements. In particular,dbgelopment and marketing of new products coudire a significant commitment of
resources, which could in turn require the Companybtain additional financing earlier than othessvexpected. There can be no assurance
that the Company will be able to obtain additidiv@ncing as needed on acceptable terms or at all.

DEPENDENCE ON KEY CUSTOMERS

Historically, a significant portion of the Compasigales has been to relatively few customers, @dhéhe composition of these customers
varied. Revenues from the Company's ten largesbiess in the years ended March 31, 1999, 1998.88d accounted for approximately
40%, 61% and 61%, respectively, of total reven@€onm accounted for 20% of total revenues duringytes ended March 31, 1998 and
ASCII, the Company's former distributor in Japascaunted for 13% of total revenues during the yeated March 31, 1997. Substantially
the Company's product sales have been made, aedaeeted to be made, on a purchase order basie dfdhe Company's customers has
entered into a long-term agreement requiring fidcchase the Company's products. Further, allofbmpany's license and other revenues
are nonrecurring.

* This statement is a forward looking statemenleding current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing" commencing on page Canipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSelisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.

19



RELIANCE ON GROWTH OF THE IP TELEPHONY MARKET

Success of the Company's Broadband Telephony prsthategy assumes that there will be future denfiantP telephony systems. In order
for the IP telephony market to continue to grow,esal things need to occur. Telephone service gergi must continue to invest in the
deployment of high speed broadband networks taleesial and commercial customers. IP networks rimugtove their QoS for real-time
communications, managing effects such as packet, jjgacket loss and unreliable bandwidth, sotthikjuality service can be provided. IP
telephony equipment must achieve the five-ningalydity that users of the PSTN have come to exfrech their telephone service. IP
telephony service providers must offer cost antufeabenefits to their customers that are sufficiercause the customers to switch away
from traditional telephony service providers. Thea@ be no assurance that any or all of theseoadlir and a failure of any or all of these to
occur may have a material adverse effect on thepgaoris business.

UNCERTAINTY OF MARKET ACCEPTANCE OF VIDEO MONITORIN G PRODUCTS

Due to bandwidth constraints, the Company's Videmitbring products transmit video over a POTS hAba frame rate and resolution that
are significantly less than the frame rate andluiem of standard CCTV monitors. Furthermore, @@mpany's Video Monitoring products
transmit audio over a POTS line with a fidelity tisoften less than toll quality and that degraidethe presence of background noise. The
POTS infrastructure varies widely in configuratemd integrity, which can degrade, make unreliableven eliminate the digital connections
between the Company's Video Monitoring productse Sécurity industry demands a high degree of guabtbustness and reliability of its
products. Actual or perceived technical difficudtier insufficient video or audio quality could ingeemarket acceptance and have a material
adverse effect on the Company's business andsedperations.

RAPID TECHNOLOGICAL CHANGE; DEPENDENCE ON NEW PRODU CT INTRODUCTION

The IP telephony and video monitoring are emergiagkets and are characterized by rapid changassiomer requirements, frequent
introductions of new and enhanced products, antiraging and rapid technological advancement. To pet® successfully, the Company
must continue to design, develop, manufacture alichew and enhanced products that provide inangéshigher levels of performance and
reliability and lower cost, take advantage of teslhgical advancements and changes, and resporata@ustomer requirements. The
Company's success in designing, developing, matwfag and selling such products will depend oradety of factors, including the
identification of market demand for new producigduct selection, timely implementation of proddesign and development, product
performance, cost- effectiveness of products uddeelopment, effective manufacturing processestamduccess of promotional efforts.

The Company has in the past experienced delay®iddvelopment of new products and the enhancesfienisting products, and such
delays will likely occur in the future.* If the Cgmany is unable, due to resource constraints ontdolgical or other reasons, to develop and
introduce new or enhanced products in a timely ragriisuch new or enhanced products do not aclgeffecient market acceptance or if
such new product introductions decrease demaneiisting products, it would have a material advef$ect on the Company's business and
operating results.

RELIANCE ON PARTNERSHIPS FOR BROADBAND TELEPHONY PR ODUCTS

The Company is entering into new market areas reliccess is partly dependent on its ability tgganew marketing and engineering
partnerships. IP telephony communications systemsxremely complex

* This statement is a forward looking statemenleding current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing" commencing on page Canipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSelisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.
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and no single company possesses all the requiceddgy components needed to build a completd@edd solution. Partnerships will be
required to augment the Company's development anegjand to assist it in marketing complete solsttorits customer base. There can be
no assurance that the Company will be capablewdldping such partnerships in the course of itslpeb development. Even if the Company
does establish the necessary partnerships, thefgecao assurance that the Company will be akdeléguately capitalize on these
partnerships to aid in the success of the Comp&ugmess.

DEPENDENCE ON PROPRIETARY TECHNOLOGY; RELIANCE ON T HIRD PARTY LICENSES

The Company relies in part on trademark, copyragtt trade secret law to protect its intellectualerty in the United States and abroad.
Company seeks to protect its software, documemtatial other written materials under trade secretcapyright law, which afford only
limited protection. The Company also relies in martpatent law to protect its intellectual propentyhe United States and abroad. The
Company currently holds nine United States patémtfyding patents relating to programmable integgtacircuit architectures, telephone
control arrangements, software structures and mgarchitecture technology, and has a number ofddr8tates and foreign patent
applications pending. There can be no assurantailyasuch patent applications will result in asuesd patent. There can be no assuranct
the Company's means of protecting its proprietaytyts in the United States or abroad (where effedtitellectual property protection may be
unavailable or limited) will be adequate or thatngeetitors will not independently develop technotsgihat are similar or superior to the
Company's technology, duplicate the Company's @olgy or design around any patent of the Compahg. Company has in the past
licensed and in the future expects to continuingrising its technology to others, many of whoml@cated or may be located abroad.* There
are no assurances that such licensees will prifted€ompany's technology from misappropriation. dbwer, litigation may be necessary in
the future to enforce the Company's intellectuapprty rights, to determine the validity and scopthe proprietary rights of others, or to
defend against claims of infringement or invalidBuch litigation could result in substantial caatsl diversion of management time and
resources and could have a material adverse effeitte Company's business and operating results.

There has been substantial litigation in the sendaator, electronics and related industries regarditellectual property rights, and there

be no assurance that third parties will not claifnimgement by the Company of their intellectuagerty rights. The Company's broad range
of technology, including systems, digital and agatocuits, software and semiconductors, increétsesikelihood that third parties may cla
infringement by the Company of their intellectuabjerty rights. If the Company were found to beinging on the intellectual property

rights of any third party, the Company could bejsatto liabilities for such infringement, whichudd be material, and the Company coulc
required to refrain from using, manufacturing dfisg certain products or using certain proceseéhgr of which could have a material
adverse effect on the Company's business and aggrasults. From time to time, the Company hasited, and may continue to receive in
the future, notices of claims of infringement, npigeopriation or misuse of other parties' proprigtéghts. There can be no assurance that the
Company will prevail in these discussions and astj@r that other actions alleging infringementhxy Company of third-party patents will

not be asserted or prosecuted against the Company.

On March 2, 1999, the Company was informed that #fraelson Foundation Partnership filed a lawsuthi United States District Court in
Phoenix, Arizona on February 26, 1999, againsCbmpany and eighty-seven other United States sewicdor and electronics companies
for alleged infringement of patent rights claimede owned by the Lemelson Medical Foundationghiibn may be necessary in the future
to determine the validity and scope of the clairpagprietary rights of the Lemelson Medical Foundatior to

* This statement is a forward looking statemeniiesting current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing" commencing on page Canipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSolisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of cefttors that could affect future
performance.
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defend against the alleged claims of infringem8nth litigation could result in substantial cosid diversion of management time and
resources and could have a material adverse effettte Company's business and operating resuttse IEompany were found to be
infringing on the alleged intellectual propertyhig of the Lemelson Medical Foundation, the Compand be subject to liabilities for such
infringement, which could be material, and the Campcould be required to refrain from using, mantifang or selling certain products or
using certain processes, either of which could lzaneterial adverse effect on the Company's busimed operating results.

COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATIONS AND INDUSTRY STANDARDS

Circuit-switched networks such as the PSTN feadwvery high reliability, with a guaranteed QoS. Tlenmon standard for reliability of
carrier-grade real-time voice communications i999%, meaning that the network can be down for arflsw minutes per year. In addition,
such networks have imperceptible delay and comglgteatisfactory audio quality. Emerging broadb#fchetworks such as LANs, WANs
and the Internet, or emerging last mile technolegigch as cable, DSL and wireless local loop watlbe used for telephony unless such
networks and technologies can provide reliabilitg guality consistent with these standards.

The Company believes that the market acceptantsegthony over broadband IP networks is dependaan the adoption of industry
standards so that products from multiple manufectuare able to communicate with each other. Braadiitelephony products rely heavily
standards such as H.323, SGCP, MGCP, and H.GGRetmperate with other vendors' equipment. Thecaiigently a lack of agreement
among industry leaders about which standard shmeilgsed for a particular application, and aboutdaition of the standards themselves.
Furthermore, the industry has had difficulty acimguwrue multivendor interoperability for highly eplex standards such as H.323. Standards
are continuously being modified and replaced. Asdards evolve, the Company may be required tofynasgiexisting products or develop
and support new versions of its products. The ffaif the Company's products to comply, or delaysoimpliance, with various existing and
evolving industry standards could delay or intetnegdume production of the Company's Broadband fledey products, which would have a
material adverse effect on the Company's busined®perating results.

The Company must comply with certain rules and lagns of the Federal Communications Commissigiarging electromagnetic radiati
and safety standards established by Underwriteosiadories as well as similar regulations and steshslapplicable in other countries. The
failure of the Company's products to comply, omglslin compliance, with the various existing andlewg government regulations could
delay or interrupt volume production of its Broadta elephony or Video Monitoring products, whichulcbhave a material adverse effect on
the Company's business and operating results.

TRANSITION TO SMALLER GEOMETRY PROCESS TECHNOLOGIES AND HIGHER LEVELS OF DESIGN INTEGRATION

The Company continuously evaluates the benefitgroimtegrated circuit, product-by-product basfan@rating to smaller geometry process
technologies in order to reduce costs and has ceoedemigration of certain future products to smajieometry processes. The Company
believes that the transition of its products ta@asingly smaller geometries will be importanttftte Company to remain competitive. The
Company has in the past experienced difficulty igrating to new manufacturing processes, whichrbaslted and could continue to resul
reduced yields, delays in product deliveries amteased expense levels. Moreover, the Companysndient on its relationships with its
foundries and their partners to migrate to smaémetry processes successfully. No assuranceecgivdn that the Company's future
process migrations will be achieved or achievedhouit difficulties, delays or increased expensest@ill. The Company's business, financial
condition and results of operations could be maligrand adversely affected if any such transit®aubstantially delayed or inefficiently
implemented. As smaller geometry processes becoone prnevalent, the Company expects to integratatgréevels of functionality as well
as customer
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and third-party intellectual property into its prmdis.* Some of this intellectual property inclugesmlog components for which the Company
has little or no experience or in-house expertikeassurance can be given that higher levels afjdéstegration or the use of third-party
intellectual property will not adversely affect tiempany's ability to deliver new integrated praduan a timely basis, or at all.

PRODUCT COMPLEXITY

Products as complex as those offered by the Comipagyently contain errors, defects and functidimaitations when first introduced or as
new versions are released. The Company has inasteegperienced such errors, defects or functiomihtions. The Company sells products
into markets that are extremely demanding of rqtretiible, fully functional products. Therefordidery of products with production defects
or reliability, quality or compatibility problemsoald significantly delay or hinder market accep&an€ such products, which could damage
the Company's credibility with its customers andeadely affect the Company's ability to retaindissting customers and to attract new
customers. Moreover, such errors, defects or fanatilimitations could cause problems, interrupgiotelays or a cessation of sales to the
Company's customers. Alleviating such problems reguire significant expenditures of capital andueses by the Company. There can be
no assurance that, despite testing by the Comjitarsyppliers or its customers, errors, defectsioctional limitations will not be found in
new products after commencement of commercial priboiy, resulting in additional development costssl of, or delays in, market
acceptance, diversion of technical and other ressufirom the Company's other development effortajyct repair or replacement costs,
claims by the Company's customers or others agdiastompany, or the loss of credibility with ther@any's current and prospective
customers. Any such event could have a materigraéveffect on the Company's business, financiadition and results of operations.

INTERNATIONAL OPERATIONS

Sales to customers outside of the United Statessepted 43%, 47% and 54% of total revenues ifidbal years ended March 31, 1999,
1998 and 1997, respectively. Specifically, salesustomers in the Asia Pacific region represent®d,25% and 33% of the Company's total
revenues for the fiscal years ended March 31, 19993 and 1997, respectively, while sales to custsrim Europe represented 17%, 22%
and 21% of the Company's total revenues for theegagmiods, respectively.

International sales of the Company's semiconduetdrgontinue to represent a substantial portibthe Company's product revenues for the
foreseeable future.* In addition, substantiallycadilthe Company's current products are, and sutistigrall of the Company's future products
will be, manufactured, assembled and tested bypierident third parties in foreign countries.* Intgianal sales and manufacturing are
subject to a number of risks, including generahecoic conditions in regions such as Asia, changdsreign government regulations and
telecommunications standards, export license rements, tariffs and taxes, other trade barriemstdltions in currency exchange rates,
difficulty in collecting accounts receivable andfidulty in staffing and managing foreign operatiohe Company is also subject to
geopolitical risks, such as political, social alwdmomic instability, potential hostilities and clgas in diplomatic and trade relationships, in
connection with its international operations. Arsiigant decline in demand from foreign marketsjelhmay result from the current
economic conditions in the Asia Pacific regionfarother reasons could have a material advergetafin the Company's business and
operating results.

* This statement is a forward looking statemeniiesting current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing” commencing on page Conipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSolisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of cefttors that could affect future
performance.
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MANAGEMENT OF GROWTH AND CHANGE; DEPENDENCE ON KEY PERSONNEL

The development and marketing of the Company'sdraad Telephony and Video Monitoring products wihtinue to place a significant
strain on the Company's limited personnel, manageared other resources. The Company's ability toagea any future growth effectively
will require it to successfully attract, train, matte, retain and manage employees, particulaygyekgineering and managerial personnel, to
effectively integrate new employees into its opgerat and to continue to improve its operationaaficial and management systems. The
Company's failure to manage its growth and chairgis business effectively and to attract andirekay personnel could have a material
adverse effect on the Company's business and apgrasults.

Further, the Company is highly dependent on theimoad service of and its ability to attract anthie qualified technical, marketing, sales
and managerial personnel. The competition for gerkonnel is intense, particularly in the San FsmecBay area where the Company is
located. The loss of any such person or the fatlurecruit additional key technical and sales pengl in a timely manner would have a
material adverse effect on the Company's busines®perating results. There can be no assurantthth@&ompany will be able to continue
to attract and retain the qualified personnel nemgsfor the development of its business. The Camgarrently does not have employment
contracts with any of its employees and does nahtaia key person life insurance policies on anyjtoemployees.

POTENTIAL VOLATILITY OF STOCK PRICE

The market price of the shares of the Company'stoamstock has been and is likely to be highly viglatt may be significantly affected by
factors such as: (1) actual or anticipated fludturestin the Company's operating results; (2) anneorents of technical innovations; (3) loss
of key personnel,

(4) new products or new contracts by the Compasydmpetitors or their customers; (5) governmemgglilatory action; (6) developments
with respect to patents or proprietary rights, gahearket conditions, changes in financial estesdty securities analysts and other factors
which could be unrelated to, or outside the cordfpthe Company. The stock market has from timgénte@ experienced significant price and
volume fluctuations that have particularly affected market prices for the common stocks of teahgnptompanies and that have often been
unrelated to the operating performance of particttenpanies. These broad market fluctuations magradly affect the market price of the
Company's common stock. In the past, followingqusiof volatility in the market price of a Compangecurities, securities class action
litigation has often been initiated against theiisg company. There can be no assurance that gigetiibn will not occur in the future with
respect to the Company. Such litigation could resuubstantial costs and a diversion of managé&matiention and resources, which would
have a material adverse effect on the Companyiadssand operating results. Any settlement or rméveetermination in such litigation
would also subject the Company to significant lighiwhich would have a material adverse effectlom Company's business and financial
condition.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

The Company's principal operations are locatedhia@proximately 45,623 square foot facility in $a@tara, California. This lease expires in
May 2003. The Company also leases 2,663 squar@feendon, England. This lease expires in July9l8A8d the Company has no option to
extend the lease. The Company's existing facildaiesadequate to meet its current needs.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

On March 2, 1999, the Company was informed that #fraelson Foundation Partnership filed a lawsuthi United States District Court in
Phoenix, Arizona on February 26, 1999, againsCmpany and eighty-seven other United States sewicdor and electronics companies
for alleged infringement of patent rights claimede owned by the Lemelson Medical Foundationghiibn may be necessary in the future
to determine the validity and scope of the clairpagprietary rights of the Lemelson Medical Foundiatior to defend against the alleged
claims of infringement. Such litigation could resual substantial costs and
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diversion of management time and resources andl ¢@ye a material adverse effect on the Companginéss and operating results. If the
Company were found to be infringing on the allegedllectual property rights of the Lemelson Medi€aundation, the Company could be
subject to liabilities for such infringement, whicbuld be material, and the Company could be redui refrain from using, manufacturing
or selling certain products or using certain preesseither of which could have a material adveffeet on the Company's business and
operating results.

ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITY HOLDERS
None.
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PART Il
ITEM 5.MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON STOCK AND REL ATED SECURITY HOLDER MATTERS

The Company effected its initial public offering dualy 2, 1997. Since that date, 8x8's common staskbeen traded on the Nasdag National
Market under the symbol "EGHT." No dividends haverebeen paid or declared on 8x8's common stook.ddmpany currently does not
anticipate paying any cash dividends on its capitadk in the foreseeable future. As of March 399, there were 279 holders of record of
the Company's common stock. Many of the Compaigses of common stock are held by brokers and atsgtutions on behalf of
stockholders, therefore, the Company is unableterchine the total number of stockholders represehby these record holders. Responses
from brokers and other institutions regarding sbdwreld on behalf of other stockholders indicate tihere were at least 12,400 such other
stockholders as of March 31, 1999.

PRICE RANGE OF COMMON STOCK

PERIOD HIGH LOW

Fiscal 1998

Second Quarter (from July 2, 1997)....cc..ccccc.. L. $11 13/16 $ 6 5/8

Third Quarter......cccooveeeevviiieceiiieeees $16 $10 7/16

Fourth Quarter......cccccovevvveevceeceeeees $107/8 $51/2
Fiscal 1999

FirstQuarer......cccoovveevvvvieeceiiceeees $71/8 $5

Second QUANer......ccocvvveeeeviiieee e $51/16 $17/8

Third Quarter........coccoevvevvveeciveeeiceee $93/8 $21/4

Fourth Quarter......cccccovevvveevieevieeeeee $7 $311/16

On February 17, 1998, the Company, issued to Stnfaiversity a warrant to purchase 10,000 shaféssoCompany's common stock at a
per share exercise price of $5.50, then equas it market value. This warrant expired on Febrd&, 1999. This warrant and the
underlying shares are not registered under therihiesuAct of 1933, as amended, and were issuesiaint to the exemption provided by
Section 4 (2) of such Act.

ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

1999 1998 1997 1996 1995
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

Total revenues............c.ccue.n... $ 31,682 $49,776 $19,146 $28,774 $19,929
Net income (l0SS).........ccveennee. (19,224) 3,727 (13,613) (3,217) (5,881)
Net income (loss) per share:

BaSIC..ceuvveeeeesreeeeeeeinn, $ (1.28) $ 031 $ (2.56) $(0.70) $(1.34)

Diluted.......cccccoevevireeennenn $ (1.28) $ 025 $ (2.56) $(0.70) $(1.34)
Total assets........ccceceevveecneenns $ 28,709 $46,429 $12,727 $23,067 $20,644

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FIN ANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
OVERVIEW

Since June 1995, the Company has been executingirelss strategy designed to focus the Comparfgitseéxclusively on the developme
manufacture and marketing of multimedia communicatemiconductors, software and systems. As pahi©strategy, the Company
discontinued sales of its MPEG semiconductor protine and reduced its workforce in the quarterezhdune 30, 1996.

To date, the Company has marketed its line of mektiia communication semiconductors and relatechtdogy to OEMs and distributors,
mainly for videoconferencing and videophone appidces. This product line includes the LVP, VCP afdPex semiconductors.
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In an effort to expand the available market fonitslitimedia communication products, and to caggabn its vertically integrated technology,
the Company began developing low-cost consumeiopldenes and marketing these products to consumdes the ViaTV brand name in
1997. The ViaTV videophone enables phone call gggnts to both hear and see each other while canwating over a standard analog
telephone line. The Company shipped its first Vigitdduct in February 1997, and over the next twaryéntroduced several new
videophone products, expanded its distribution akémnin North America, Europe and Asia, and becaneading manufacturer of consumer
videophones. However in the fourth quarter of fid&99, the Company determined that a combinatfdaaiors including the high cost of
maintaining a consumer distribution channel, tloevsk than expected growth rate of the consumeroygidene market, and the low gross
margins typical of a consumer electronics produatienit unlikely that the consumer videophone bissirveould be profitable in the
foreseeable future. Therefore, the Company annalimcapril 1999 that it would cease production loé tViaTV product line and withdraw
from its distribution channels over the subseqgentral quarters. In conjunction with this decidiom Company recorded a $5.7 million
charge associated with the write off of ViaTV viglhone inventories. The Company does not expeat tiblke to generate revenues from its
other products to compensate for the loss of Viadkenues for at least the next twelve months, dlat If the Company cannot adequately
compensate for lower revenues with decreased metwifag overhead expenses and with lower operatipgnses, it could have a material
adverse effect on the Company's business and apgrasults.

In June 1998, the Company entered the market étmovmonitoring products with its RSM-1500 Remotev8illance Module. The RSM-
1500 module enables real-time remote video momigooiver POTS lines. The target market for video itooimg is primarily owners of small
businesses such as convenience stores and ressavtenneed the ability to view their premises frany remote location in the world at any
time. The Company currently sells its RSM-1500 picido security distributors and dealers in Northekica, and is attempting to expand its
distribution channels into Europe and Asia.

In December 1998, the Company introduced a newaarductor product, the Audacity Internet telephprmycessor, which combines
telephony protocols with audio compression/decosgiom algorithms and implements multiple, simultareinternet protocol phone calls

a single integrated circuit. In April 1999, the Quamy announced its Symphony VolP Module, an integraystem product that is based on
the Audacity semiconductor and that connects dpupanalog telephone lines to an IP network. Theseducts reflect the Company's recent
efforts to develop Broadband Telephony technoldgydate the Company has not realized any revemue ifs products focused on the IP
telephony market.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjigrctvith the Company's Consolidated Financial Stegtets and the notes thereto:

Revenues
YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,
1999 1998 1997
(IN MILLIONS)
Product revenues....................... $26.2 83% $35.3 71% $15.2 80%
License and other revenues............. 55 17% 145 29% 39 20%
$31.7 1 00% $49. 100% $19.1 100%

* This statement is a forward looking statemeniiesting current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing" commencing on page Canipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSolisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of cefttors that could affect future
performance.
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Total revenues were $31.7 million, $49.8 milliord&$19.1 million for the fiscal years ended March 8299, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
Total revenues for fiscal 1999 were divided amongtimedia communication semiconductors ($10.3 o) ViaTV systems ($12.9
million), video monitoring systems ($3.0 millionhé nonrecurring license and other revenues ($5l®n)i In fiscal 1998, total revenues
were divided among multimedia communications semdecators ($21.9 million), ViaTV systems ($13.4 ioifl) and nonrecurring license &
other revenues ($14.5 million). In fiscal 1997 atoevenues were divided between semiconductoes&$illion), ViaTV systems ($500,00
and nonrecurring license and other revenues ($8li@m.

Product revenues were $26.2 million in fiscal 199 8ecrease of $9.1 million from the $35.3 millieported in fiscal 1998. The decrease in
product revenues in fiscal 1999 compared to 4888 is primarily due to a decrease in sales ohimpany's multimedia communication
semiconductors, partially offset by an increassaltes of the Company's ViaTV and Video Monitoriggtem products. In fiscal 1998, prod
revenues increased by $20.1 million above the $id#llbn reported in fiscal 1997. The increase inguct revenues is primarily due to sales
generated from the Company's ViaTV products, coetbirith an increase in sales of the Company's mettia communication
semiconductors, offset by a decrease in both MP&EfGiconductor and math co-processor sales due tighentinuation of such product
lines in fiscal 1997.

License and other revenues consist of technolagpses, including royalties required under su@nbes, and nonrecurring engineering fees
for services performed by the Company for its conrs. License and other revenues were $5.5 millidiscal 1999, a decrease of $9.0
million from the $14.5 million reported in fisca®28, due in part to the approximately $5.3 millgaid by 3Com in fiscal 1998 for a license
to substantially all of the Company's technologdentying its ViaTVs. Compared to fiscal 1997, indal 1998 license and other revenues
increased by $10.6 million from $3.9 million to $84million, due in part to the $5.3 million paid BZom in fiscal 1998.

Revenues from the Company's ten largest customéng ifiscal years ended March 31, 1999, 1998 &8d@ Accounted for approximately
40%, 61% and 61%, respectively, of its total revenuuring the year ended March 31, 1999, no custarcounted for 10% or more of tc
revenues. 3Com accounted for 20% during the yededMarch 31, 1998, and ASCII, the Company's fordigributor in Japan, accounted
for 13% during the year ended March 31, 1997.

Sales to customers outside the United States mauexb43%, 47% and 54% of total revenues in tloalfigears ended March 31, 1999, 1998
and 1997, respectively. Specifically, the Compasgles to the Asia Pacific region represented ZB% and 33% of total revenues for the
fiscal years ended March 31, 1999, 1998, and 1@%pectively. The Company's sales to Europe reptedd 7%, 22% and 21% of total
revenues for the fiscal years ended March 31, 19993, and 1997, respectively.

Cost of Revenues

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

(IN MILLIONS)
Cost of product revenues.........cccooeeeveeeeeeeee L $24.2 $17.8 $12.0
As a percentage of product revenues.......cccocee.. . 92% 50% 79%
Cost of license and other revenues..........ccc.... . .. $01 $11 $ O
As a percentage of license and other revenues...... ... 2% 7% 0%

The cost of product revenues consists of costated with components, semiconductor wafer fatinoa system and semiconductor
assembly and testing performed by third-party vesidad direct and indirect costs associated withimsing, scheduling and quality
assurance. Costs of product revenues were $24iam$17.8 million and $12.0 million for the fidcgears ended March 31, 1999, 1998, and
1997, respectively. In fiscal 1999, cost of prodestenues included a $5.7 million charge associaitidthe write off of inventories related
the Company's decision to cease production andhidisbn of its ViaTV product line. In addition, éneased costs associated with increased
ViaTV videophone revenues were partially offsetdegreased cost of shipments of the Company's nedismcommunication semiconductor
products. The cost
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of product revenues for the ViaTV and Video Moniitgrproducts is substantially greater as a pergentd related revenues as compared to

the Company's multimedia semiconductor products. dist of product revenues in fiscal year 1998uithet! costs associated with increasing
shipments of its ViaTV videophone products. Indist997, cost of product revenues included a $4lllomcharge associated with the write-
off of inventories related to the Company's disgardtion of the MPEG product line in September 19%6a result of this write-off, costs for

the period increased and were equal to 79% of mtagwenue.

Cost of license, and other revenues was $100,00@ar1 million for the fiscal years ended March 3299 and 1998, respectively. In fiscal
1998 cost of license and other revenues consistedrsonnel and other costs incurred to perforrtagedevelopment work under terms of a
nonrecurring engineering contract between the Compad one of its customers. There were no costcaed with license and other
revenues in the fiscal year ended March 31, 1997.

Gross Profit

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

(IN MILLIONS)
Gross profit...ccccceecccecvciiiiiciiieeeeees L $74 $309 $7.1
As a percentage of total revenues........ccccee.... . L 23% 62% 37%

Total gross profit was $7.4 million, $30.9 milliamd $7.1 million in fiscal 1999, 1998 and 1997 pexgively. Gross profit from product
revenues was $2.0 million, $17.5 million and $3ifiam for the fiscal years ended March 31, 199998, and 1997, respectively. Gross pi
from license and other revenues, all of which weyerecurring was $5.4 million, $13.4 million and $&nillion in fiscal 1999, 1998 and
1997, respectively.

The decrease in gross profit and margin from prodeienues in fiscal 1999 compared to fiscal 1988 due to the decrease in multimedia
communication semiconductor revenues and to the@ilion write off of inventories due to the Compés decision to cease production and
distribution of its ViaTV videophone product linEhe increase in gross profit and margin from prodereenues in fiscal 1998 compared to
fiscal 1997 was due to the increase in multimedimmunication semiconductor revenues in fiscal 1298 to lower revenues and charges
associated with the write-off of inventories rethte the Company's exit from the MPEG semiconductarket in fiscal 1997.

The Company's gross margin is affected by a numbfctors including, product mix, the recognitiohlicense and other revenues for which
there may be no or little corresponding cost oeraies, product pricing, the allocation betweerrivagonal and domestic sales, the
percentage of direct sales and sales to resedfledsmanufacturing and component costs. The maidetese Company's products are
characterized by falling average selling pricese Gompany expects that, as a result of compefitigesures and other factors, gross profit as
a percentage of revenue for the Company's multismealinmunication semiconductor products will likdgcrease for the foreseeable future.*
Because the market is emerging, the average selting for broadband telephony semiconductors ¢ertain. The Company may not be able
to attain ASPs similar to those of its historicelaoconferencing semiconductors. If ASPs are logerss margins will be lower than the
Company's historical gross margins, unless costBrimadband Telephony semiconductors are also ptiopately lower. In addition, the
gross margins for the Company's Video Monitoringdurcts are, and will continue to be, substantiallyer than the gross margins for its
semiconductors. In the likely event that the Conypamcounters significant price competition in tharkets for its products, the Company
could be at a significant disadvantage comparéis mompetitors, many of which have substantiatlyader resources, and therefore may be
better able to withstand an extended period of deavd pricing pressure.

* This statement is a forward looking statemenleding current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing" commencing on page Canipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSelismmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.
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Research and Development Expenses

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

(IN MILLIONS)
Research and development........cccoocevvceeee L $9.9 $12.3 $105
As a percentage of total revenues........ccccee.... . L 31% 25% 55%

Research and development expenses consist priméplgrsonnel, system prototype design and falioicaimask, prototype wafer and
equipment costs necessary for the Company to coitsutevelopment efforts. Research and developreesis, including software
development costs, are expensed as incurred. Rbsaad development expenses were $9.9 million 3&t@lion and $10.5 million for fiscal
1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. During fisc&2,9998 and 1997, research and development expamse concentrated on multimedia
communication semiconductors and ViaTV and Videmiwing systems products. In addition, in fisc@P@ the Company's research and
development costs also included costs associatétivg development of the Audacity Internet telephprocessor, and the Symphony VolP
module. Lower research and development expensé@wgdigcal 1999 were due to decreases in profitisBgaand incentive bonuses, non-
recurring ViaTV and Video Monitoring system desigsts, and costs associated with materials anahgpobed in prototype builds of the
Company's ViaTV and Video Monitoring system produ@uring fiscal 1998, research and developmertsagsuld have been higher, exc
that certain research and development personnfarperd non-recurring engineering services undevamue-generating contract. The costs
associated with this contract were included indbst of license and other revenues. Higher researdidevelopment costs as a percentage of
total revenues for fiscal 1999 were due to lowgeneies as compared to fiscal 1998. The non-caspeasation expense recognized on
certain stock option grants and charged to researdidevelopment decreased to $194,000 in fis@d #@m $416,000 in fiscal 1998, and
$1.1 million in fiscal 1997.

The Company expects to continue to allocate subiataasources to research and development.* Howyéweire research and development
costs may vary both in absolute dollars and ageepéage of total revenues.*

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

(IN MILLIONS)
Selling, general and administrative................. .. $17.7 $17.4 $10.1
As a percentage of total revenues........ccocee.... L 56% 35% 53%

Selling, general and administrative expenses copsisarily of personnel and related overhead cfistsales, marketing, finance, human
resources and general management. Such costselsdd advertising, sales commissions, trade shalhoéher marketing and promotional
expenses. Selling, general and administrative esgeewere $17.7 million, $17.4 million and $10.liwrl in fiscal 1999, 1998 and 1997,
respectively. In fiscal 1999, expenses increasedtaosts associated with the marketing, advegiand promotion of the Company's Via
videophone product line, additional headcount negilifo support these activities, and expenses iassdavith the Company's implementat
of a new enterprisedde database and information management systeeselincreases were substantially offset by decséag@ofit sharin
and incentive bonuses, and commission expensesp&erhto fiscal 1997, in fiscal 1998 selling geharal administrative

* This statement is a forward looking statemenleding current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing” commencing on page Conipetition” commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSelismmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.
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expenses increased by $7.3 million due to additibeadcount, higher compensation costs and costeiased with the marketing, advertis
and promotion of the Company's ViaTV videophonedput line.

In April 1999, the Company announced that it wozgdse production of the ViaTV videophone produ knd withdraw from its

distribution channels over the next several quariés a result, the Company expects decreases iexihenses associated with promoting the
ViaTV videophone product line.* However, the Comypavill likely need to increase sales and markefpegsonnel to support the IP
telephony and video monitoring markets.* As a rgduture selling, general and administrative caséy vary both in absolute dollars and as
a percentage of total revenues.*

The non-cash compensation expense recognized t@incstock option grants and charged to sellingegal and administrative decreased to
$159,000 in fiscal 1999 from $741,000 in fiscal 82d $3.1 million in fiscal 1997.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net, consists primarily of interesmtned on cash equivalents and short-term investnkntiscal 1999, 1998 and 1997, other
income, net, was approximately $1.0 million, $1.8iom, $120,000, respectively. Compared to fist@88, the decrease in interest income
earned in fiscal 1999 is due primarily to lower rgee cash equivalents and short-term investmeanhbas as compared to fiscal 1998.

(Benefit) Provision for Income Taxes

There was no tax provision for the year ended M&1hL999 due to the net losses incurred. The ¢arfit for the year ended March 31, 1
resulted from the reversal of approximately $1.0iom of the Company's income tax liability in thiest quarter of fiscal 1998 upon notice
from the Internal Revenue Service that it had resgia previously asserted deficiency related tdeatkable year 1992.

At March 31, 1999, the Company had net operatisg tmrryforwards for federal and state income tap@ses of approximately $19.9
million and $7.1 million, respectively, which expiat various dates beginning in 2005. In additagriarch 31, 1999, the Company had
research and development credit carryforwardsddeffal and state tax reporting purposes of appateiyn $2.4 million which begin expiring
in 2009. Under the ownership change limitationthefinternal Revenue Code of 1986, as amendea@ntioeint and benefit from the net
operating losses and credit carryforwards may kgaired or limited in certain circumstances.

At March 31, 1999, the Company had deferred tagtassf approximately $15.5 million. The weight ef#dable evidence indicates that it is
more likely than not that the Company will not tieato realize its deferred tax assets and thudl &dluation reserve has been recorded at
March 31, 1999.

Year 2000

Many currently installed computer systems and safénproducts are coded to accept only two digiiestn the date code field. As the Year
2000 approaches, these code fields will need tedour digit entries to distinguish years beggwith "19" from those beginning with
"20." The Company is assessing the readiness pfatucts, internal computer systems, and thirdypeguipment and software utilized by
the Company to handle Year 2000 issues. Based thpoGompany's assessments, all of the Companydsighoare Year 2000 compliant.
With regard to the Company's internal computeresyst the Company completed its implementation adraarprise-wide database and
information management system that is Year 2000ptiamt during the quarter ended March 31, 1999. {bked cost of the system
implementation project was approximately $1.6 milliThe Company does not believe that the incremhendject cost

* This statement is a forward looking statemenleding current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing" commencing on page Canipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSolisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of cefttors that could affect future
performance.
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associated with Year 2000 compliance was matesittha feature is included with a system purchagatid Company to satisfy its business
needs. As such, the Company has not allocated @nipmp of the total project cost to the Year 2088uie.

The Company is also assessing the possible effedtse Company's operations of the Year 2000 readiof key customers, subcontract
manufacturers, component suppliers and other peovidf goods and services to the Company. The Coynpeects that this assessment, as
well as related remediation and contingency plamictivities, will be orgoing throughout calendar year 1999.* Failure tdrads Year 200
issues by the Company's customers, subcontractfaunrers, component suppliers, and other providegoods and services could have a
material adverse impact on the Company's businessgerating results.*

The total estimated cost to be incurred by the Gongpegarding the testing of current products fealy2000 compliance, and answering and
responding to customer requests related to Yead E3@es, including both incremental spending adeéployed resources, is currently not
expected to exceed $100,000. The total cost esidws not include costs of internal software aardware replaced in the normal course of
business. In some instances, the installation sdbed new software and hardware in the normal ®®wf business is being accelerated to
also afford a solution to Year 2000 compliance éssu

The failure to correct a material Year 2000 probtaald result in an interruption in, or a failurk certain normal business activities or
operations. Due to the general uncertainty inhdretite Year 2000 problem, resulting in part frdra tincertainty of the Year 2000 readiness
of key customers, subcontract manufacturers, coemtasuppliers and other partners providing goodssanvices to the Company, the
Company is unable to determine at this time whettieiconsequences of Year 2000 related interruptiorfailures will have a material
impact on the Company's results of operationsjditgor financial condition. To attempt to mitigathe impact of Year 2000 related risks,
Company has begun development of contingency pléanch will include, for example, attempting to idiéy alternative vendors of critical
materials and services in the event of a Year 26ed disruption in supply.* Contingency plannimij continue through at least calendar
1999, and will depend heavily on responses recdived current vendors and customers regarding Yed@r 2000 readiness.* However, e
if the Company, in a timely manner, develops cagdircy plans believed to be adequate, some probteaysot be identified or corrected in
time to prevent material adverse consequencetGdmpany.* Additionally, if the Company fails tatisfactorily resolve Year 2000 issues
in a timely manner, it could be exposed to claimshird parties.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 31, 1999, the Company had cash anddliimvestments totaling $15.8 million, representindecrease of $10.9 million from
March 31, 1998. The Company currently has no bamkolwing arrangements.

Cash used in operations of $10.4 million in fist®99 reflected a net loss of $19.2 million, an é&se in accounts receivable of $1.4 million,
and a decrease in accounts payable of $708,000.3asl in operations was partially offset by caslvided by a decrease in inventory of
$8.8 million, an increase in deferred revenue 06%$iillion, and noncash items, including a defercethpensation charge of $416,000 and
depreciation and amortization of $967,000. Cash usévesting activities in fiscal 1999 is primgrattributable to capital expenditures of
$1.8 million and the repurchase of common stockfroinority shareholders of a subsidiary of the Campin conjunction with its merger
with the Company in August 1998. Cash flows fronmaficing activities in fiscal 1999 consisted priryaof net proceeds from the repayment
of stockholders' notes receivable and sales o€tirapany's common stock upon the exercise of emepleieek options. For the year, cash
and cash equivalents decreased by $10.9 million.

* This statement is a forward looking statemeniiesting current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing” commencing on page Conipetition” commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSelisnmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.

32



Cash used in operations of $6.5 million in fisc@9& reflected a $3.5 million increase in accouateivable, a $11.6 million increase in
inventory, and a $522,000 increase in prepaid esgeeand other assets. Cash used in operationsanaslyp offset by net income of $3.7
million, increases of $2.1 million in deferred reve, $1.2 million in accounts payable, $519,008dcrued compensation, and noncash it
including a deferred compensation charge of $11Bomiand depreciation and amortization of $901,008sh used in investing activities for
fiscal 1998 was primarily attributable to capitapenditures of approximately $1.0 million. Cashaftofrom financing activities in fiscal 1998
consisted primarily of $24.7 million in net proceddom the sale of the Company's common stoclsimitial public offering. For the year,
cash and cash equivalents increased by $18.0 millio

Cash used in operations of $4.3 million in fisc@91 reflected a net loss of $13.6 million, and eréase in accounts payable of $4.2 million.
Cash used in operations was partially offset by gasvided by decreases in inventory and accowasivable of $6.1 million and $2.6
million, respectively, and noncash items, includindeferred compensation charge of $4.5 million@egeciation and amortization of
$873,000. Cash provided by investing activitiesffecal 1997 was primarily attributable to net sadé short-term investments of $5.2 million
which was offset by capital expenditures of apprately $691,000. Cash flows from financing actestin fiscal 1997 consisted primarily of
proceeds from the sales of convertible noncumwdgtieferred stock and sales of common stock upmeircise of stock options,
respectively. For the year, cash and cash equitsiecreased by $4.1 million.

The Company believes that it will be able to futehped expenditures and satisfy its cash requiresrfenat least the next twelve months
from cash flow from operations, if any, and exigtoash balances. As of March 31, 1999, the Compadyapproximately $15.8 million in
cash and cash equivalents. However, the Compamgrilyr estimates that it will be required to ragghlitional financing at some point during
calendar year 2000.* The Company will be evaluatingncing alternatives prior to that time. Thelgacan be no assurance that the
Company will not seek to exploit business oppottasithat will require it to raise additional cabifrom equity or debt sources to finance its
growth and capital requirements. In particular,dbgelopment and marketing of new products coudire a significant commitment of
resources, which could in turn require the Companybtain additional financing earlier than othesavexpected. There can be no assurance
that the Company will be able to obtain additidir@dncing as needed on acceptable terms or at all.

ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES A BOUT MARKET RISK

The Company derives a significant portion of itgereues from customers in Europe and Asia. In caleeduce the risk from fluctuation in
foreign exchange rates, the majority of the Com{sasgles are denominated in U.S. dollars. In auditll of the Company's arrangements
with its semiconductor foundry and assembly vendamsl with its subcontract manufacturers for ita ™ and Video Monitoring systems, .
denominated in U.S. dollars. The Company also raaiata sales office in London, England, and as suelCompany is exposed to market
risk from changes in exchange rates. The Compasybiaentered into any currency hedging activiflesdate, the exposure to the Company
related to exchange rate volatility has not begniicant, however, there can be no assurancdtibat will not be a material impact in the
future.

The Company also invests in certain money marketmmd mutual funds. These securities, like akdixncome instruments, are subject to
interest rate risk and will decline in value if rker interest rates increase. Consequently, the @aoynis exposed to fluctuations in rates on
these investments. All of the investments have lodgessified as available-for-sale at March 31, 199%ealized losses on available-for-sale
investments were $193,000 at March 31, 1999. Rehlasses during fiscal 1999 on such investments wet significant.

* This statement is a forward looking statemenleding current expectations. There can be no asserthat the Company's actual future
performance will meet the Company's current expiects. See "Manufacturing" commencing on page Canipetition" commencing on
page 13 and "Factors That May Affect Future ReSelismmencing on page 17 for a discussion of ceftaitors that could affect future
performance.
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Schedules other than the one listed above havedeited because they are inapplicable, becausethered information has been included
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS
To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of 8r8,

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetadisted in the accompanying index present fairall material respects, the financial
position of 8x8, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the HGmny") at March 31, 1999 and 1998 and the resiiliseir operations and their cash flows
for each of the three years in the period endedcMad, 1999, in conformity with generally accepéedounting principles. In addition, in our
opinion, the financial statement schedule listethsnaccompanying index presents fairly, in allenat respects, the information set forth
therein when read in conjunction with the relatedsolidated financial statements. These finant&@éments and financial statement sche
are the responsibility of the Company's managenwemtresponsibility is to express an opinion orséhBnancial statements and financial
statement schedule based on our audits. We cortbaateaudits of these statements in accordancegeitlerally accepted auditing standards
which require that we plan and perform the audatitain reasonable assurance about whether thecfalastatements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tildasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disids in the financial statements,
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, and evaluagnaverall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provideaaonable basis for the opinion expressed above.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
April 27, 1999, except for Note 10, which is asvdy 13, 1999
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8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AND PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

ASSETS
MARCH 31,
1999 1998
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents.. . $15,810 $26,677
Short-term investments........ e - 60
Accounts receivable, net..........ccoceeeeeeeee. Ll 5,886 4,527
INVENONY .covvviiieiee e 3,915 12,758
Prepaid expenses and other current assets........ ... 878 876
Total current assets......ccccevceeeeeee. L. 26,489 44,898
Property and equipment, net.........cccccoceeeeee. 2,163 1,370
Deposits and other assets.......ccccccceeveveee. . 57 161
$28,709 $46,429
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable..........ccccoevvevivieeeeees $1917 $2,216
Accounts payable to related parties.......cc..... . ... - 409
Accrued compensation.......cccccevvcveeeenieeees . 1,236 1,445
Accrued warranty.......... w— 1,043 1,461
Deferred revenue.........ccoceeevvvveveeneeeee 4,089 2,447
Other accrued liabilities. — 1,190 1,387
Income taxes payable......cccccoeeveeeeeennenees L 411 536
Total current liabilities.................— .. 9,886 9,901
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)
Minority interest......ccoccevvvceenicciees L - 85
Stockholders' equity:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.001 par value:
Authorized: 5,000,000 shares; No shares issued and
outstanding at March 31, 1999 or 1998....... ... - -
Common stock, $0.001 par value:
Authorized: 40,000,000 shares; Issued and outs tanding:
15,425,752 shares at March 31, 1999 and 15,29 3,614
shares at March 31, 1998........cccccoeeeeee. L. 15 15
Additional paid-in capital................... L 48,363 47,785
Notes receivable from stockholders........c.......—— ... (266)  (893)
Deferred compensation.........ccocceevvcveees L. (297) (744)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss............ . ... (193) (45)
Accumulated deficit.........oooevcvvviveeeee. (28,899) (9,675)
Total stockholders' equity.......ccoc.... . .. 18,823 36,443

$28,709 $46,429

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfiancial statements.
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8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

1999 1998 1997

Product revenues.......ccccoevveicveevcceenees $ 26,189 $34,933 $12,771
Product revenues from related parties.............. ... - 355 2,521
License and other revenues.........ccccccevveeeee. L 5,493 14,488 3,854

Total revenues.......ccooeeeevvcccees L 31,682 49,776 19,146
Cost of product revenues........cccccccvvveeee. L 24,199 17,764 12,030
Cost of license and other revenues................. ... 82 1,087 -

Total cost of revenues........ccoeeeeee. L 24,281 18,851 12,030
Gross Profite.eeeeeeeeeeeeeieieee 7,401 30,925 7,116
Operating expenses:

Research and development.........ccccocceeee. L 9,922 12,317 10,522
Selling, general and administrative................ ... 17,712 17,381 10,145

Total operating expenses..........ccceee. . L. 27,634 29,698 20,667
Income (loss) from operations...........ccccceeeee.. . (20,233) 1,227 (13,551)
Otherincome, Net......cccovevevvicveiiiiceeee 1,009 1,518 120
Income (loss) before income taxes..........cceeee. L (19,224) 2,745 (13,431)
(Benefit) provision for income taxes.....ccccoeeee. L -- (982) 182
Netincome (I0SS).....ccccovvveviieiiieeiceeeee $(19,224) $3,727 $(13,613)
Net income (loss) per share:

BaSIiC..cooviiviiiiiic e $ (1.28) $ 031 $ (2.56)

Diluted...cooviiiiiiiie e $ (1.28) $ 0.25 $ (2.56)
Shares used in per share calculations:

BaSIiC..cooviiviiiiiic e 15,018 12,083 5,312

Diluted. ..o 15,018 15,128 5,312

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfiancial statements.
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8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT SHARE AMOUNTS)

NOTES ACCUMULATED
PREFERRED STOCK COMMON STOCK ADDITIONAL RECEIVABLE OTHER
------------------- - -m-=m--m--m----- PAID-IN FROM D EFERRED COMPREHENSIVE
SHARES AMOUNT S HARES AMOUNT CAPITAL STOCKHOLDERS COM PENSATION LOSS

Balance at March 31,

1996.....ccceiiannnne 3,041,820 $3 4, 782,021 $5 $11,155 $ - $ -- $ -
Issuance of common stock

upon exercise of

options........c...c... - -2 188,265 2 1,095 (1,078) - -
Issuance of common

stocK.................. - - 20,000 -- 10 - -- --
Issuance of Series D

convertible

noncumulative preferred

StOCK...eveeiienine 684,553 1 - - 3,764 - - -

Deferred compensation

related to stock

optioNns..........ce... - - - - 7,267 - (2,781) -
Net and total

comprehensive loss..... - - - - - - - -

Balance at March 31,

1997... .. 3,726,373 4 6, 990,286 7 23,291 (1,078) (2,781) -
Issuance of common stock

upon initial public

offering, net of

issuance costs of

$2,231..cciine - - 4, 140,000 4 24,675 - - -
Issuance of common stock

upon exercise of

options and purchases

under the employee

stock purchase plan.... - - 483,593 - 597 -- -- --
Conversion of

convertible

noncumulative preferred

stock to common stock.. (3,726,373) (4) 3, 726,373 4 - - -- -
Issuance of warrant..... - - - - 17 -- -- --
Repayment of notes

receivable from

stockholders........... - - - - -- 162 -- --
Repurchase of unvested

common stock........... - - (46,638) -- (23) 23 -- --
Deferred compensation

related to stock

options................ - - - - (772) -- 2,037 --
Unrealized loss on

investments............ - - - - - - - (45)
Net income.............. - - - - - - - -

1998.....cccviiiine -
Issuance of common stock
upon exercise of

options and purchases
under the employee

stock purchase plan.... - - 389,823 - 838 -- - -
Repayment of notes

receivable from

stockholders........... - - - - - 498 - -
Repurchase of unvested

common stock........... - - ( 257,685) -- (129) 129 -- --
Deferred compensation

related to stock

options.. - - - - (131) -- 547 --
Unrealized loss on

- 15, 293,614 15 47,785 (893) (744) (45)

- - - - - (148)
15, 425752 $15  $48,363 $ (266) $ (197) $(193)
RETAINED
EARNINGS
(ACCUMULATED

DEFICIT)  TOTAL

Balance at March 31,
1996.....ciiiriianns $ 211 $11,374



Issuance of common stock

Issuance of Series D

convertible

noncumulative preferred
StOCK...cvveivieiine - 3,765
Deferred compensation

options................ -- 4,486
Net and total
comprehensive loss..... (13,613) (13,613)

Balance at March 31,

1997 (13,402) 6,041
Issuance of common stock

upon initial public

offering, net of

issuance costs of

$2,231.c -- 24,679
Issuance of common stock

upon exercise of

options and purchases

under the employee

stock purchase plan.... -- 597
Conversion of

convertible

noncumulative preferred

stock to common stock.. - -
Issuance of warrant..... -- 17
Repayment of notes

receivable from

stockholders........... - 162
Repurchase of unvested

common stock........... - -
Deferred compensation

related to stock

options..........cce.. - 1,265
Unrealized loss on

investments............ -

Net income
Total comprehensive
income................ -- 3,682

1998.....oviiriienne (9,675) 36,443
Issuance of common stock

upon exercise of

options and purchases

under the employee

stock purchase plan.... -- 838
Repayment of notes

receivable from

stockholders........... -- 498
Repurchase of unvested

common stock........... -- --
Deferred compensation

related to stock

optioNns..........ce.. - 416
Unrealized loss on

investments............ -
Net loss . (19,224)
Total comprehensive

Balance at March 31,
1999...ccciiiiienns $(28,899) $18,823

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfiancial statements.

38



8X8, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(IN THOUSANDS)

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income (I0SS).......cccvveeerriiieeeiiiinenn.

1999

1998 1997

........ $(19,224) $ 3,727 $(13,613)

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net ¢ ash used
in operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization.........ccccc....... L. 967 901 873
Amortization of deferred compensation........... . ... 416 1,265 4,486
Writedown of nonmarketable equity investment..... ... - -- 400
Other..ccoiieeee (148) (15) (5)
Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable, net.........cccoceeeeeeeee. L (1,359) (3,515) 2,567
INVENONY .coviiiieiieiieeeeeeeeee 8,843 (11,580) 6,092
Prepaid expenses and other current assets........ ... 2) (522) (70)
Deposits and other assets........cccceeeeeeveeeee. L 104 (46) --
Accounts payable - (708) 1,246 (4,202)
Accrued compensation.......cccccceveeeeeeeeens (209) 519 (853)
Accrued warranty....cccceceeeeeeeeeeeiesieeeeeee (418) (142) 545
Deferred revenue........cccocevevvcecenneeeee Ll 1,642 2,084 163
Other accrued liabilities.. - (197) 698 (852)
Income taxes payable......ccccooeeeeveveveeeeees L (125) (1,118) 120
Net cash used in operating activities......... ... (10,418) (6,498) (4,349)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisitions of property and equipment............. . ... (1,760) (927) (691)
Purchases of common stock from minority interest in
subsidiary...cccccvveiie (85) - -
Sales of short-term investments -- available for sa le...... - - 5,168
Short-term investments -- trading activity, net.... ... 60 (58) 71
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activ ities (1,785) (985) 4,548
Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of convertible noncumulative
preferred stock, net.......ccccoeveevvvcceeeee. L - - 3,765
Proceeds from issuance of common stock, net........ ... 838 25,276 29
Repayment of notes receivable from stockholders.... ... 498 162 --
Proceeds from minority interest in subsidiary...... ... - -- 77
Net cash provided by financing activities..... ... 1,336 25,438 3,871
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalent Serreens (10,867) 17,955 4,070
Cash and cash equivalents beginning of the year.... ... 26,677 8,722 4,652

Cash and cash equivalents end of the year..........

Supplemental non-cash disclosures:
Taxes paid (refunded), net...........cccceeevnnees

Repurchase of unvested common stock................

........ $15,810 $26,677 $ 8,722

........ $ 126 $ 136 $ (139)

........ $ 129 $

23 $ -

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktfinancial statements.
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8X8, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTE 1 -- THE COMPANY AND ITS SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTIN G POLICIES:
THE COMPANY

8x8, Inc. (the "Company" or "8x8") was incorporatedCalifornia in February 1987. In December 199& Company was reincorporated in
Delaware.

The Company develops, manufactures and marketotal@unication equipment focused on multimedia heprotocol (IP) applications.
The Company's products are highly integrated, Eyeiits proprietary technology and are comprisedufimedia communication
semiconductors, multimedia compression algorithmesyork protocols and embedded system design. Tgreseicts are used in applications
including voice-over-IP, video monitoring and stréag, and videoconferencing. The Company markstpribducts mainly to original
equipment manufacturers (OEMSs), but also to endsuse its Video Monitoring system products.

In an effort to expand the available market fonitgitimedia communication products, the Companyabedeveloping low-cost consumer
videophones and marketing these products to conrswmeler the ViaTV brand name in 1997. Howevehinfourth quarter of fiscal 1999,

the Company determined that due to a combinatidaatbrs including the high cost of maintainingemsumer distribution channel, the
slower than expected growth rate of the consundophone market, and the low gross margins typicalconsumer electronics product
made it unlikely that the consumer videophone lrssrwould be profitable in the foreseeable futliherefore, the Company announced in
April 1999 that it would cease production of theVV product line and withdraw from its distributichannels over the subsequent several
guarters. The Company does not expect to be algerterate revenues from its other products to cosgie for the loss of ViaTV revenues
for at least the next twelve months, if at alithé Company can not adequately compensate for Imvenues with decreased manufacturing
overhead expenses and with lower operating expeigesild have a material adverse effect on thm@any's business and operating results.
See also Note 9.

FISCAL YEAR

The Company's fiscal year ends on the last Thuredayr before March 31. For purposes of these dimtated financial statements, the
Company has indicated its fiscal year as endinlylarch 31.

PRINCIPLES OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include tu®ants of the Company and its subsidiaries. Athigicant intercompany accounts and
transactions have been eliminated.

USE OF ESTIMATES

The preparation of the consolidated financial statets in conformity with generally accepted accmgnprinciples requires management to
make estimates and assumptions that affect thetegpamounts of assets and liabilities and disctosticontingent assets and liabilities at
date of the consolidated financial statements haddported amounts of revenues and expenses dhanmgporting period. Actual results
could differ from those estimates.

REVENUE RECOGNITION

Revenues from product sales to OEMs and other sei @re recognized upon shipment. License revearraggenerally recognized upon the
delivery of the licensed technology provided nangigant future obligations exist and collectiorpiobable. For financial reporting purposes,
revenues generated by sales to distributors aadenet under agreements allowing certain rightetfrn are deferred until the product is
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8X8, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
sold by the distributor or retailer. When no rigbfseturn exist, revenues generated by produessale recognized upon shipment.
CASH, CASH EQUIVALENTS AND SHORT-TERM INVESTMENTS

The Company considers all highly liquid debt instants with an original maturity of three monthdess to be cash equivalents.
Management determines the appropriate classificatii@ebt and equity securities at the time of pase and reevaluates the classification at
each reporting date. At March 31, 1999 and 1938 Qbmpany classified its investments either adaai-for-sale or as trading. The cost of
the Company's investments is determined based sgexific identification. Investments classifiedaamilable-for-sale are reported at fair
value with unrealized gains and losses, net ofedltax, if any, recorded as a separate comporiatbckholders' equity. At March 31, 1999
and 1998, the Company's investments classifiedatahle-for-sale totaled $14.1 million and $26.0lion, respectively, and were primarily
comprised of money market funds with an effectivagumity of three months or less. Unrealized logseavailable-for-sale investments were
$193,000 and $45,000 at March 31, 1999 and 198Bertively. The investments classified as tradiegr@ported at fair value with realized
and unrealized gains and losses being reportdueistatement of operations. The Company did nat hay investments classified as trading
at March 31, 1999 and the cost and fair value wéstments classified as trading at March 31, 198&wot significant. Realized and
unrealized gains and losses on the Company's meess$ classified as trading were also not signifiéar the years ended March 31, 1999,
1998, and 1997.

INVENTORY
Inventory is stated at the lower of standard osbkich approximates actual cost, using the firsfinsf-out method or market.
NONMARKETABLE EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Nonmarketable equity investments, included in otiesets, of less than 20% of the investee's odlisiginoting stock are accounted for us
the cost method, because the Company does noinaakility to significantly influence the operatiagd financial policies of the investees.
Loss resulting from impairment in the value of istraents which is other than a temporary declimedsrded in the period in which such I
occurs.

PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment are stated at cost lessradated depreciation and amortization. Depreciatiod amortization are computed using
the straight-line method, based upon the shortée€stimated useful lives, ranging from threéve years, or the lease term of the
respective assets as follows:

Machinery and computer equipment......... 3 years

Furniture and fixtures................... 5 years

Licensed software..........ccccceee..... 3 years

Leasehold improvements................... Shorter of lease term or useful life of the asset

WARRANTY EXPENSE
The Company provides for the estimated cost whial be incurred under its product warranties up@emae recognition.
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8X8, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
RESEARCH AND SOFTWARE DEVELOPMENT COSTS

Research and development costs are charged tatiopsras incurred. Software development costs neduprior to the establishment of
technological feasibility are included in reseaacidl development and are expensed as incurred. dimp&hy defines establishment of
technological feasibility as the completion of arking model. Software development costs incurrdzsequent to the establishment of
technological feasibility through the period of gesd market availability of the product are cajitadl, if material. To date, all software
development costs have been expensed as incurred.

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION

The U.S. dollar is the functional currency of then@pany's foreign subsidiary. Exchange gains arskbsesulting from transactions
denominated in currencies other than the U.S. datiaincluded in the results of operations forythar. To date, such amounts have not been
significant. Total assets of the Company's foreighsidiary were $656,000, $620,000 and $429,000f &krch 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997,
respectively. The Company does not undertake amygio currency hedging activities.

INCOME TAXES

Income taxes are accounted for using the assdtaility approach. Under the asset and liabilippeoach, a current tax liability or asset is
recognized for the estimated taxes payable or dzfiole on tax returns for the current year. A defétex liability or asset is recognized for
the estimated future tax effects attributed to teragy differences and carryforwards. If necessidmy deferred tax assets are reduced by the
amount of benefits that, based on available evieleme not expected to be realized.

CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK

Financial instruments that potentially subject @@mpany to significant concentrations of credik gensist principally of cash, cash
equivalents, short-term investments and trade atsaeceivable. The Company places its cash, aaskiaddents and short-term investments
primarily in market rate accounts with reputabteficial institutions. Cash equivalents presentafsthanges in value because of interest rate
changes. The Company has not experienced any aldteses relating to any investment instrumente Company sells its products to
OEMs and distributors throughout the world. The @amy performs ongoing credit evaluations of its@oners' financial condition and
maintains an allowance for uncollectible accouatgivable based upon the expected collectibilitglibhccounts receivable. At March 31,
1999, two customers accounted for 20% and 10% afuads receivable, respectively. At March 31, 199& customer accounted for 30% of
accounts receivable.

FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amount of the Company's financialrinsents, including cash equivalents, short-ternegtments, accounts receivable, and
nonmarketable equity investments, approximateviaines.

ACCOUNTING FOR STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION

The Company accounts for stock-based awards tooyegs using the intrinsic value method in accordawith Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, "Accounting for Stock Issued to Hayges." Accordingly, no compensation cost has lseeagnized for its stock plans. The
Company provides additional pro forma disclosueseguired under Statement of Financial Accoun8tandards No. 123 (FAS 123),
"Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation." See Note
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8X8, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

In fiscal 1999, the Company adopted Statementmdrigial Accounting Standards No. 130, "Reportingn@eehensive Income."
Comprehensive income, as defined, includes allgbsim equity (net assets) during a period fromo@ner sources. The primary difference
between net income and comprehensive income, @Ctimpany, is due to unrealized losses on shartiterestments classified as available-
for-sale. Comprehensive income is being shownérctinsolidated statements of stockholders' equity.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

In fiscal 1999, the Company adopted Statementmdriiial Accounting Standards No. 131 (FAS 131)sthisures about Segments of an
Enterprise and Related Information.” This statenestablishes standards for the way companies régortnation about operating segments
in annual financial statements. It also establistt@sdards for related disclosures about produnctsarvices, geographical areas and major
customers. In accordance with the provisions of B8§, the Company determined that it has one rapleroperating segment.

RECLASSIFICATIONS
Certain prior year balances have been reclassifiednform with the fiscal 1999 presentation.
NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE

Basic net income (loss) per share is computed \agidg net income (loss) available to common stadéters (numerator) by the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding dtivengeriod (denominator). Diluted net income

(loss) per share is computed using the weightethgeenumber of common shares and potential comimanes outstanding during the peri
Potential common shares result from the assumeisgeusing the treasury stock method, of outstandonvertible noncumulative
preferred stock (Preferred Stock), common stoclooptand unvested restricted common stock havititutive effect.

The numerators for each period presented are ¢gjtiaé reported net income (loss). The reconailiabf the denominators used in compu
basic and diluted per share amounts is as follawthousands):

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

1999 1998 1997

Basic shares........ccocvvvvvvvivieiiiieees 15,018 12,083 5,312
Effect of dilutive securities:

Preferred StocK.........ooovvvvcvcvvvieeeees L -- 973

Common stock OptioNS.......cccvvveeeevvvveiieeeee -- 1,376

Unvested restricted common stock......ccccoeeeeee. L -- 696
Diluted shares.........cccoovvvvvvveveenene. 15,018 15,128 5,312

The following equity instruments were not includedhe computations of net income (loss) per sha@use the effect on the calculations
would be anti-dilutive (in thousands):

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

Preferred StocK.......cccoovvvvvvvvvveveneeee. - - 3,726

Common stock OptioNS:.....cccvveeevvciiieeeiiceeee . 3,430 287 2,291
Unvested restricted common stock.......cccoceeeeeee. L 143 - 1,296
Total oo 3,573 287 7,313
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8X8, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
RECENT ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS

In March 1998, the American Institute of Certifiedblic Accountants issued Statement of Position98el (SOP 98-1), "Software for
Internal Use," which provides guidance on accowtor the cost of computer software developed daiolkd for internal use. The Company
is required to adopt SOP 98-1 in fiscal 2000. Then@any does not expect that the adoption of SOP @8Fhave a material impact on its
consolidated financial statements.

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@@ssued Statement of Financial Accounting Stadsldlo. 133 (FAS 133), "Accountir
for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activitie$He Company is required to adopt FAS 133 in fi@edl1l. FAS 133 establishes methods
of accounting for derivative financial instrumeatsd hedging activities related to those instrumaataell as other hedging activities. The
Company does not expect that the adoption of FABviliB have a material impact on its consolidatethficial statements.

NOTE 2 -- BALANCE SHEET COMPONENTS:

MARCH 31,

(IN THOUSANDS)
Accounts receivable........cccocevcevcenee L $6,572 $5,137
Less: allowance for doubtful accounts............ ... (686) (610)

$5,886 $4,527

Inventories:
Raw materialS........cccoovveeevvieeecciceee. $ 952 $3,864
WOrk-in-proCess......ccoceevvvcveeeeiscieeaeaee 892 5,337
Finished goods......cccccveeeviviiiiiceee 2,071 3,557

$3,915 $12,758

Property and equipment:

Machinery and computer equipment.................. ... $4,317 $3,837
Furniture and fixtures......c.cccoovveeeveeeee. Ll 691 691
Licensed software........cccocevvvvcveeceneeeee Ll 3,457 2,268
Leasehold improvements.........ccocceevvcc. Ll 600 600
9,065 7,396
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization.. ... (6,902) (6,026)

$2,163 $1,370

NOTE 3 -- TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES:

The Company purchased $956,000, $3.8 million ar@8$00 of raw materials inventory from Sanyo Semdtetor Corporation (Sanyo) and
an affiliate of Sanyo during fiscal 1999, 1998 48®7, respectively. Additionally, during the fisgaar ended March 31, 1997, the
Company's product revenues included $106,000 esdal Sanyo. At March 31, 1998, the Company haduatsgayable to Sanyo totaling
$409,000. The Company had no amounts receivahie dropayable to Sanyo at March 31, 1999. Sanyaésad the Company's stockholders
and an executive of Sanyo is on the Company's Bafabdrectors.

A representative of National Semiconductor CorpgorafNational) was a member of the Company's Badifdirectors until May 19, 1997.
The Company subleased to National a portion dhitdities under a month to month sublease arramgemntil August 1, 1997. Proceeds
from the sublease were recorded as a
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8X8, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINU ED)
reduction to operating expenses and aggregated®@and $276,000 during the fiscal years endedcMat, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

During the fiscal years ended March 31, 1998, &8t/ 1the Company's product revenues included $88%6d $2,415,000, respectively, in
sales to ASCII Corporation (ASCII). The Companyrarated its distribution relationship with ASClifeétive June 30, 1997. An execultive
ASCII was a member of the Company's Board of Daecuntil May 27, 1997.

During fiscal 1997, the Company and certain oéitgployees formed VidUs, Inc. (VidUs). The Compang &idUs merged in August 1998
resulting in the repurchase of all outstanding ebarf VidUs common stock held by the Company's eygas for approximately $85,000.

During fiscal 1999 and 1998, the Company paid a brof the Board of Directors approximately $85,80@ $50,000, respectively, for
technical consulting services provided on behathefCompany.

NOTE 4 -- INCOME TAXES:

Income (loss) before income taxes includes $105,890,000 and $74,000 of income of its foreign glibsy for the fiscal years ended Mal
31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. The compsrathe consolidated (benefit) provision for immtaxes consisted of the following (in
thousands):

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

1999 1998 1997

Current:

Yo [=Y = S $(26) $(1,018) $ -
St ———— - - -
FOr@ign. oo 26 36 182

Deferred tax assets are comprised of the followimghousands):

MARCH 31,
1999 1998
Research and development credit carryforwards...... ... $ 2,403 $1,920
Net operating loss carryforwards.......ccccceeeeee. L 7,165 1,839
Inventory valuation..........cccoevvvvccccceeee. 3,037 1,020
Reserves and allowances.........ccocceevvvveee. L 969 891
Other i 1,923 2,116
15,497 7,786
Valuation allowance..........cccooeeeviccans L. (15,497) (7,786)
Totalieeiiiiiisiseee e $ $

Management believes that, based on a number afrfadche weight of objective available evidencdadatks that it is more likely than not that
it will not be able to realize its deferred taxetssand thus a full valuation allowance has beeorded at March 31, 1999.

At March 31, 1999, the Company had net operatisg tmrryforwards for federal and state income tap@ses of approximately $19.9
million and $7.1 million, respectively, which expiat various dates beginning in 2005. The net ¢ipgréoss carryforwards include
approximately $400,000 resulting from employee eisess of non-qualified stock options or disquatifyidispositions the tax benefits of
which, when realized, will be accounted for as dditton to additional paid-in capital rather thanareduction of the provision for income
taxes. In addition, at March 31, 1999, the Compaany research and development credit
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carryforwards for federal and state tax reportingopses of approximately $2.4 million which begipieing in 2009. Under applicable tax
laws, the amount of and benefits from net operdtisges and credits that can be carried forward meaynpaired or limited in certain
circumstances. Events which may cause limitatiarthé amount of net operating loss carryforwards tine Company may utilize in any one
year include, but are not limited to, a cumulativenership change of more than 50% over a threepeérd.

A reconciliation of the tax (benefit) provisionttte amounts computed using the statutory U.S. &derome tax rate of 34% is as follows
thousands):

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

(Benefit) provision at statutory rate.............. ... $(6,572) $ 933 $(4,567)
State income taxes (benefit) before valuation allow ance,

net of federal effect.......ccoccevvvccees L (729) 160 (344)
Reversal of previously accrued income taxes payable ... - (1,018) -
Research and development credits.......cccocoeeeee. L (483) (385) (373)
Valuation allowance........ccccccceeevevevieveeeeee 7,712 (995) 4,012
Non-deductible compensation.........ccccccveeeeee. L 165 504 1,525
Other e (93) (181) (71)
(Benefit) provision for income taxes............... ... $ $ (982) $ 182

In August 1995, the Internal Revenue Service (IR&") asserted a deficiency against the Companthiotaxable year 1992 in the amoun
approximately $1,365,000, together with a penaltthe amount of approximately $273,000 plus accioextest. The IRS alleged that as of
March 31, 1992, the Company had accumulated eaiagond the reasonable needs of the CompanyisdsssiThe Company did not make
any payments and in accordance with IRS procedareslly protested this assessment on October @85.1n May 1997, the Company
received a notice from the IRS indicating it halliyfeeversed the August 1995 notice of deficien&g.a result, the Company reversed
approximately $1.0 million of its income tax liabjlduring the first quarter of fiscal 1998.

NOTE 5 -- COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:

The Company leases its primary facility under acameelable operating lease agreement that expifdgay 2003. This agreement provides
for annual increments of rent in predetermined am®and requires the Company to pay property tamestance and normal maintenance
costs.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgi@eating leases are as follows (in thousands):

YEAR ENDING MARCH 31,

Rent expense for all operating leases for the yerded March 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 was $890§10075,000 and $717,000,
respectively.

The Company is a party to certain patent infringenmeatters and claims which have arisen in the aboourse of the Company's operations.
While the results of such litigation and claims mainbe predicted with certainty, the Company begthat the final outcome of such matters
will not have a
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significant adverse effect on the Company's finalnposition or results of operations. However, dtidie Company not prevail in any such
litigation, its operating results and financial o could be adversely impacted.

NOTE 6 -- STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:
COMMON STOCK AND PREFERRED STOCK

In July 1997, the Company completed an initial pubffering (the "Offering") of its common stocleling 4,140,000 shares at $6.50 per
share. Net proceeds to the Company were approxiyrd.7 million after deducting related issuanosts. As of the closing date of the
Offering, all of the Preferred Stock outstandingsweanverted into an aggregate of 3,726,373 shdmsnumon stock.

1992 STOCK OPTION PLAN

In January 1992, the Board of Directors adoptedl882 Stock Option Plan (the "1992 Plan") and restfl,000,000 shares of the Compa
common stock for issuance under this plan. In Au894, the Board of Directors authorized an insesia the number of shares of the
Company's common stock reserved for issuance uhde992 Plan to 2,000,000 shares. The 1992 Ptavidas for granting incentive and
nonstatutory stock options to employees at pricgsieto the fair market value of the stock at themg dates. Options generally vest over
periods ranging from two to four years. Vestingdertain options accelerates if certain predefimddstones are met.

KEY PERSONNEL PLAN

In July 1995, the Board of Directors adopted thg Rersonnel Plan and reserved 2,000,000 sharbgs @fdmpany's common stock for
issuance under this plan. In June 1996, the Bdabdrectors authorized an increase in the numbeshafes of the Company's common stock
reserved for issuance under the Key Personnelt®l2y200,000 shares. The Key Personnel Plan prevatggranting incentive and
nonstatutory stock options to officers of the Comypat prices equal to the fair market value ofdtuek at the grant dates. Options generally
vest over periods ranging from two to four yearesihg for certain options accelerated in fisc&i88pon the achievement of certain
predefined milestones.

1996 STOCK PLAN

In June 1996, the Board of Directors adopted tt#61®ock Plan (the "1996 Plan") and reserved 10@0shares of the Company's common
stock for issuance under this plan. In June 198¥ Qompany's shareholders authorized an increabe imumber of shares of the Company's
common stock reserved for issuance under the 1B86t® 1,500,000 shares. Effective November, 188/amount is to be increased
annually on the first day of each of the Compafigtsal years in an amount equal to 5% of the Comiisaszommon stock issued and
outstanding at the end of the immediately precefisaal year subject to certain maximum limitatioiikis provision resulted in an increase
of 764,680 shares issuable under the 1996 Planglthe fiscal year ended March 31, 1999. The 1986 provides for granting incentive a
nonstatutory stock options to employees at pricesieto the fair market value of the stock at trengdates as determined by the Company's
Board of Directors. Options generally vest oveeeqd of not more than five years.

1996 DIRECTOR OPTION PLAN

The Company's 1996 Director Option Plan (the "Doe®lan") was adopted in June 1996 and becametie@Beupon the closing of the
Offering. A total of 150,000 shares of common sthake been reserved for issuance under the DirBtdor The Director Plan provides for
the grant of nonstatutory stock options to
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certain nonemployee directors of the Company (@wtSide Directors"). The Director Plan provides teach Outside Director will be grant
a nonstatutory stock option to purchase 16,000eshafrcommon stock on the date upon which suctopdist becomes an Outside Director
or, if later, on the effective date of the DirecRlan. Thereafter, each Outside Director will beatically granted an option to purchase
4,000 shares of common stock on the date suchd@ubsrector is reelected to the Board of Directdren such date, such Outside Director
will have served on the Company's Board of Direcfor at least six months. The Director Plan presithat each option will become
exercisable in monthly installments over a peribdree year from the date of grant. The exerciseeppier share of all options granted under
the Director Plan will be equal to the fair markatue of a share of the Company's common stockewate of grant. Options granted to
Outside Directors under the Director Plan havenaygar term, or shorter upon termination of an @et®irector's status as a director. If not
terminated earlier, the Director Plan will haveeen of ten years.

Option activity under the stock option plans is suwemized as follows:

WEIGHTED
SHARES AVERAGE
OPTIONS  SUBJECT TO EXERCISE
AVAILABLE OPTIONS PRICE
FOR GRANT OUTSTANDING PER SHARE

Balance at March 31, 1996................c...... 1,171,389 2,560,757 $2.46
Increase in options available for grant.......... 1,200,000 -- --
Granted........cccoveeriiiieiiie e (4,947,462) 4,947,462 $1.68
EXercised........ccooovviiiiiniiieiicece - (2,188,265) $0.50
Cancellation of options available for grant...... (75) -- --
Returned to plan.........cccccccvveveeeeennnnn. 3,028,804 (3,028,804) $2.32
Balance at March 31, 1997..........cccccovenee. 452,656 2,291,150 $2.83
Increase in options available for grant.......... 650,000 -- --
Granted........ccoovveeiieinieeee e (1,273,665) 1,273,665 $7.92
EXercised.........coooeviiiieiiieeiieeeen - (413,033) $0.50
Returned to plan...........cccoeeeeviinennen. 291,918  (291,918) $4.73
Balance at March 31, 1998.............ccoceee. 120,909 2,859,864 $5.26
Increase in options available for grant.......... 764,680 - -
Granted........cccoveeeiiiieiiie e (3,243,175) 3,243,175 $3.32
Exercised................ - (202,332) $1.00
Returned to plan 2,470,397 (2,470,397) $6.74
Balance at March 31, 1999...........ccccceeeee. 112,811 3,430,310 $2.60
Options exercisable at March 31, 1999............ 1,402,762 $2.25
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Significant option groups outstanding at March B399 and related weighted average exercise prideamntractual life information are as
follows:

OPTIONS OU TSTANDING OPTIONS EXERCISABLE
---------- WEIGHTED
WEIGHTED WEIGHTED AVERAGE
AVERAGE AVERAGE REMAINING
EXERCISE EXERCISE CONTRACTUAL LIF E
RANGE OF EXERCISE PRICES SHARES PRICE SHARES PRICE (YEARS)
$0.50 t0 $1.40......cccviiiriinen. 666,135 $0.50 443,568 $0.50 6.7
$1.40t0 $2.80.......ccevvriirirnnnne 319,888 $2.44 33,196 $2.44 9.6
$2.80 to $4.20 2,193,787 $2.90 867,370 $2.88 8.4
$4.20 to $5.60 113,000 $4.71 22,862 $4.53 9.8
$5.60 to $7.00 121,500 $6.37 31,766 $6.58 8.6
$8.40 to $9.80 16,000 $8.94 4,000 $8.94 8.4

3,430,310 $2.60 1,402,762 $2.25 8.2

In September 1998, the Board of Directors apprapdbposal under which employees elected to capgbximately 2,107,000 options in
exchange for grants of new options with an exengigee equal to the then current fair market valneconsideration for such repricing, each
participating employee agreed that they forfeitrthight to exercise such options should they nesigm the Company within 12 months of
the repricing date.

In June 1996, the Board of Directors approved agsal under which employees elected to cancel appately 2,467,000 options in
exchange for grants of new options with an exerngigee equal to the then current fair market valsaetermined by the Board of Directors.

During the year ended March 31, 1997, options tehmse 2,156,800 shares under the Key PersonneiMei@ exercised for partial recourse
notes. Shares issued under this plan are subjeeptochase at their original issuance price d&(f.the employee leaves the Company prior
to vesting. During fiscal 1999 and 1998, the Conypapurchased 257,685 and 46,638 unvested shaspgatively. As of March 31, 1999,
143,029 shares were not vested.

In conjunction with the Offering, the Company resed a deferred compensation charge of approxim&®B67,000 with respect to options
repriced and certain additional options grantefisical 1997. The Company recognized $416,000, &1.00® and $4,486,000 of said amount
as compensation expense in the fiscal years endedhM81, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively. The@mmyis recognizing the deferred
compensation over the related vesting period obfiteons (which is generally 48 months). At Mardh 3999 the balance of this deferred
compensation was $197,000. This deferred compemsiatsubject to reduction for any employee whmteates employment prior to the
expiration of such employee's option vesting period
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For disclosure under the provisions of FAS 123 failevalue of each option grant is estimated andhte of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model, using the multiple option apgach with the following weighted-average assumygtio

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

199 9 1998 1997
Expected volatility....................... 71 % 65% 0.0%
Expected dividend yield................... 0.0 % 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rate.................. 4.2% t 5.6% 5.7%1t06.5% 5.7% to 6.5%
Weighted average expected option term..... 53y ears 5.3 years 5.0 years
Weighted average fair value of options
granted........ccceeveeireeeeineenn, $2. 76 $4.89 $0.60

1996 EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN

The Company's 1996 Stock Purchase Plan (the "PsedPian™) was adopted in June 1996 and becameiedfepon the closing of the
Offering. Under the Purchase Plan, a total of 500 $hares of common stock were initially resengrddsuance to participating employees
who meet certain eligibility requirements. At thars of each fiscal year, the number of sharesofroon stock subject to the Purchase Plan
increases so that 500,000 shares remain availablssiance. This provision resulted in an incredsé,560 shares issuable under the
Purchase Plan during the fiscal year ended Mar¢ch@49. During fiscal 1999 and 1998, 187,491 an86Wshares were issued under the
Purchase Plan, respectively.

The Purchase Plan permits eligible employees tohfase common stock through payroll deductionspaice equal to 85% of the fair market
value of the common stock at the beginning of eéachyear offering period or the end of a six moptinichase period, whichever is lower.
The contribution amount may not exceed ten perckah employee's base compensation, including cesiaris but not including bonuses
and overtime, In the event of a merger of the Comypaith or into another corporation or the salalbbr substantially all of the assets of the
Company, the Purchase Plan provides that a newisgatate will be set for each option under the mpaich exercise date will occur before
the date of the merger or asset sale.

For the purpose of providing pro forma disclosutbs,estimated fair value of stock purchase rigese estimated using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the following weighted-enage assumptions:

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

1999 1998
Expected volatility.........ccoccoveeevvccoes L 71% 65%
Expected dividend yield.........ccccccceeeeeeees L 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interestrate...........cccoeeveeveee. L 4.49% 5.63%
Weighted average expected option term............... ... 0.9 years 1.2 years
Weighted average fair value of options granted..... ... $1.81 $2.62

CERTAIN PRO FORMA DISCLOSURES

The Company accounts for its stock plans in acemeavith the provisions of Accounting PrinciplesaBd Opinion No. 25. Had
compensation cost for the Company's stock plans determined based on the
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fair value of options at their grant dates, asqnibsd in FAS 123, the Company's net income (less)ld have been as follows (in thousands,
except per share amounts):

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

1999 1998 1997

Net income (loss):

As reported.........cceevvreeinieeiiiee e .. $(19,224) $3,727 $(13,613)
Pro forma.......ccccoeveiiiiiiiecee e, . $(24,175) $ 58 $(14,744)
Basic income (loss) per share:

As reported.........cceeeeieeiieeiieecienn . $(1.28) $0.31 $ (2.56)
Pro forma.......ccccoeveeeviieeiieciiee e, . $(1.61) $0.01 $ (2.78)

Diluted income (loss) per share:
As reported . $(1.28) $0.25 $ (2.56)
Pro forma.......ccccoeveeeviieeiieciiee e, . $(1.61) $0.01 $ (2.78)

NOTE 7 -- EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS:
401(K) SAVINGS PLAN

In April 1991, the Company adopted a 401(k) savipigs (the "Savings Plan") covering substantiallpfits U.S. employees. Eligible
employees may contribute to the Savings Plan dipganaximum allowed by the IRS from their compeiasatEffective January 1, 1998, the
Company's matching contribution increased from %80$1,500 per employee per calendar year at ardolt dollar rate of the employee
contribution. The Company's matching contributigast over three years. The Company contributed $0840 the Savings Plan during
fiscal 1999. The Company's contributions were igptiicant for the fiscal years ended March 31,3@9 1997.

PROFIT SHARING PLAN

In April 1995, the Company's Board of Directors agyed a profit sharing plan which provides for aidial compensation to all employees
of the Company based on quarterly income beforenmectaxes. The profit sharing plan was effectivgitr@ng in fiscal 1996 and provided
for payments of 15% of total quarterly income beforcome taxes. In July 1997, the Board of Directonended the profit sharing plan such
that future profit sharing amounts are calculated percentage of net income. Charges relatedstplém were approximately $685,000 in
fiscal year ended March 31, 1998, and were notfgignt for the fiscal years ended March 31, 1999@97.

NOTE 8 -- GEOGRAPHIC AREA, PRODUCT AND SIGNIFICANT CUSTOMER INFORMATION:
The following illustrates net revenues by geograirea. Revenues are attributed to countries bas#ie destination of shipment.

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

1999 1998 1997

United States........ccvvvvreiieenesenenns ... $18,116 $26,381 $ 8,807
JAPAN.....eeiiiiee e .. 4,227 4,647 3,792
BUIOPE...coiiiiiiiie et .. 5,393 10,951 4,021
Other foreign countries...........ccceeevveinnnes .. 3,946 7,797 2,526

$31,682 $49,776 $19,146
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The following illustrates net revenues by groupin§similar products:

YEAR ENDED MARCH 31,

Videophone systems.........ccoceevvvevvveeeiveee $15,887 $13,360 $ 531
Multimedia communication semiconductors............ ... 10,302 21,928 12,581
Other semiconductors..........ccooevecvvveveens Ll -- - 2,180
License, royalty and engineering services........... ... 5,493 14,488 3,854

$31,682 $49,776 $19,146

No customer represented greater than 10% of tevainues for the fiscal year ended March 31, 19881t sales and license and ot
revenues derived from one customer representedxiprately 20% of total revenues for the fiscal yeaded March 31, 1998. Product sales
to one customer represented approximately 13%talf tevenues for the fiscal year ended March 39719

NOTE 9 -- RESTRUCTURING COSTS AND INVENTORY CHARGES:

In the fourth quarter of fiscal 1999, the Compasjedmined that due to a combination of factorsudirlg the high cost of maintaining a
consumer distribution channel, the slower than etqabgrowth rate of the consumer videophone maaket the low gross margins typical of
a consumer electronics product made it unlikely tha consumer videophone business would be pbédita the foreseeable future.
Therefore, the Company announced in April 1999 ithabuld cease production of the ViaTV produceliand withdraw from its distribution
channels over the subsequent several quartersnjortion with this decision the Company recorde®b.7 million charge associated with
the write off of ViaTV videophone inventories.

During fiscal 1997, the Company recorded a chaogeestructuring its operations by reducing its kforce by approximately 25%.
Additionally, the Company recorded a charge of $illion related to its MPEG semiconductor inveigsr In September 1996, the Comp
sold its remaining MPEG inventory. As of March 3997, the Company's restructuring actions werg ftdmpleted.

NOTE 10 -- SUBSEQUENT EVENT:

On May 13, 1999, the Company and Odesei S.A. ("@tleannounced an agreement for the Company toicquesei in a transaction
where Odesei shareholders will receive approxirge8e#03 shares of the Company's common stock fdr share of Odesei common stock
subject to certain adjustments. The total numbahafes of the Company to be exchanged is approedyra9 million shares. The transact
is expected to be accounted for using the purcimetkod. The acquisition is subject to certain cigsionditions. The Company anticipates
completing the acquisition during its first fiscplarter ending June 30, 1999.

SCHEDULE Il -- VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(IN THOUSANDS)

WRITE-OFFS/
ADDITIONS CHARGED RECOVERIES OF
BALANC EAT TO COSTSAND UNCOLLECTIBLE BALA NCE AT
DESCRIPTION BEGINNING PERIOD EXPENSES ACCOUNTS ENDO F PERIOD

Allowance for doubtful accounts:

March 31, 1997.....c.cccoovvireenn. $52 0 $-- $146 $ 374
March 31, 1998..........ccccvvveeennns 37 4 255 19 610
March 31, 1999......ccccccvcvvveernns 61 0 86 10 686
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CONSOLIDATED QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA

(IN THOUSANDS, EXCEPT PER SHARE AMOUNTS)

MARCH 31, DEC.3
1999 1998

Total revenues...... . $5,500 $10,07

Cost of revenues 8,348 5,63
Gross profit (loss) (2,848) 4,44
Operating expenses:
Research and development..... 2,045 2,51
Selling, general and
administrative............. 3,651 5,40

Total operating expenses... 5,696 7,92
Income (loss) from
operations................... (8,544) (3,47
Other income, net 164 24
Income (loss) before income
TAXES.vveeiiie e (8,380) (3,22
(Benefit) provision for income

Diluted.......ccccevvennenne $(0.55) $(0.2
Shares used in per share

calculations:

BasiC........ccccceeveeeiein 15,234 15,10
Diluted........ccoevvennenne 15,234 15,10

(UNAUDITED)

QUARTER ENDED

(63}

SEPT. 30, JUNE 30, MARCH 31, DEC. 31,
1998 1998 1998 1997

$9,003 $7,100 $12,129 $15,138
5913 4,390 4,891 6,879

3,000 2,710 7,238 8,259

2,753 2,612 2,838 3,284

4290 4,362 4,723 5,358

7,043 6,974 7,561 8,642

(3,953) (4,264) (323) (383)
303 293 423 515

(3,650) (3,971) 100 132

$(3,650) $(3,971) $ 82 $ 132

$(0.24) $(0.27) $ 0.01 $ 0.01
$(0.24) $(0.27) $ 0.01 $ 0.01

14,939 14,792 14,581 14,274
14,939 14,792 16,113 16,723
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SEPT. 30, JUNE 30,

1997 1997
$10,894 $11,615
4,537 2,544
6,357 9,071
2,982 3,213
3,760 3,540
6,742 6,753
(385) 2,318
480 100
95 2,418
-~ (1,000)
$ 95 $3418
$ 001 $ 0.59
$ 001 $ 0.29

13,682 5,794
16,090 11,587



ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURES
Not applicable
PART Il

Certain information required by Part Ill is omitte]dm this Report on Form 10-K in that the Registnaill file its definitive Proxy Statement
for its Annual Meeting of Stockholders pursuanRegulation 14A of the Securities Exchange Act 34,%s amended (the 1999 Proxy
Statement), not later than 120 days after the étltedfiscal year covered by this Report, and @eit#formation included in the Proxy
Statement is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE RE GISTRANT

The information required by this is included in 1899 Proxy Statement under the captions "Elecaifddirectors -- Nominees," "Additional
Information -- Executive Officers" and "Additionkdformation -- Section 16(a) Beneficial OwnershippgRrting Compliance” and is
incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information required by this Item is includedthe 1999 Proxy Statement under the captions tieleof Directors -- Compensation of
Directors," "Additional Information -- Executive Ggensation" and is incorporated herein by reference

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL O WNERS AND MANAGEMENT

The information required by this Item is set farihthe 1999 Proxy Statement under the caption "#alatl Information -- Security
Ownership" and is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND TRANSACTIONS

The information required by this Item is set farththe 1999 Proxy Statement under the captions Ithatl Information -- Certain
Relationships and Transactions," "Additional Infation -- Employment Contracts and Termination offfsgment and Change in Control
Arrangements,” "Additional Information -- ComperisatCommittee Interlocks and Insider Participatid@dditional Information -- Report
of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Doex’ and "Additional Information -- Stock Perfornmwe Graph" and is incorporated
herein by reference.

PART IV
ITEM 14. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES AN D REPORTS ON FORM 8-K
(a)(2) Financial Statements.
The information required by this item is includdzbae in Item 8.
(a)(2) Financial Statement Schedules.
The information required by this item is includdzbae in Item 8.
(a)(3) Exhibits.

The documents listed on the Exhibit Index appeaaingage 56 of this Report are filed herewith. @epif the exhibits listed in the Exhibit
Index will be furnished, upon request, to holdarbeneficial owners of the Company's common stock.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K.

On May 18, 1999, the Company filed a Current ReporEorm 8-K, pursuant to Iltem 5, to report a cleaimgthe previously reported date of
the Company's annual meeting of stockholders.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Reayigt 8x8, Inc., a Delaware corporation,
has duly caused this Report on Form 10-K to beesigm its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto dutiorized, in the City of Santa Clara,
State of California, on May 24, 1999.

8X8, INC.

By: /'s/ PAUL VOO S

Paul Vooi s,
Chai rman & Chi ef Executive O ficer

POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENT, that each pensbiose signature appears below constitutes andrapg®aul Voois and
Sandra L. Abbott, jointly and severally, his at®ys-in-fact, each with the power of substituticr, im in any and all capacities, to sign any
amendments to this Report on Form 10-K, and taliégesame, with exhibits thereto and other docusmientonnection therewith, with the
Securities and Exchange Commission, hereby ratjfgimd confirming all that each of said attorneyaaot, or his substitute or substitutes, 1
do or cause to be done by virtue hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesEmtiange Act of 1934, this Report on Form 10-K Iesn signed by the following persons
in the capacities and on the date indicated:

SIGNATURE TITLE DATE
/sl PAUL VOOIS Chairman of the Board and Chief May 24, 1999
Ex ecutive Officer
Paul Voois (Princip al Executive Officer)
/sl SANDRA L. ABBOTT Chief Fina ncial Officer and Vice May 24, 1999
Presiden t, Finance (Principal
Sandra L. Abbott Financial and Accounting Officer)
/sl KEITH R. BARRACLOUGH President, Chief Operating Officer  May 24, 1999

and Director

Keith R. Barraclough

/sl BRYAN MARTIN Vice Presid ent, Engineering, Chief ~ May 24, 1999
Technical Officer and Director

Bryan Martin

/sl CHRIS MCNIFFE Vice Presid ent, Sales and Marketing May 24, 1999
and Director
Chris McNiffe
/sl SAMUEL WANG Director May 24, 1999

Samuel Wang

/s BERND GIROD Director May 24, 1999
Bernd Girod

/sl AKIFUMI GOTO Director May 24, 1999
Akifumi Goto

/s/ GUY L. HECKER, JR. Director May 24, 1999

Guy L. Hecker, Jr.

/sl WILLIAM TAI Director May 24, 1999

William Tai
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8X8, INC.

EXHIBIT INDEX
EXHIBIT
NUMBER EXHIBIT TITLE
3.2+ Form of Amended and Restated Certificat e of Incorporation of
Registrant.

3.3+ Bylaws of Registrant.
10.1+ Form of Indemnification Agreement.

10.2+ 1992 Stock Option Plan, as amended, and form of Stock Option
Agreement.

10.3+ Key Personnel Plan, as amended, and for m of Stock Option
Agreement.

10.4+ 1996 Stock Plan, as amended, and form o f Stock Option
Agreement.

10.5+ 1996 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as a mended, and form of
Subscription Agreement.

10.6+ 1996 Director Option Plan, as amended, and form of Director
Option Agreement.

10.7+ Amended and Restated Registration Right s Agreement dated as
of September 6, 1996 among the Registra nt and certain
holders of the Registrant's Common Stoc k.

10.8+ Facility lease dated as of July 3, 1990 by and between
Sobrato Interests, a California Limited Partnership, and the
Registrant, as amended.

10.9*+ License Agreement dated as of May 7, 19 96 by and between
Kyushu Matsushita Electric Industrial C 0., Ltd. and the
Registrant.

10.12+ Promissory Note between Sandra L. Abbot t and Registrant
dated June 29, 1996.

10.13+  Promissory Note between David M. Harper and Registrant dated
June 29, 1996.

10.14+ Promissory Note between Bryan R. Martin and Registrant dated
June 29, 1996.

10.15+  Promissory Note between Chris McNiffe a nd Registrant dated
June 29, 1996.

10.16+ Promissory Note between Mike Noonen and Registrant dated
June 29, 1996.

10.17+  Promissory Note between Samuel T. Wang and Registrant dated
June 29, 1996.

10.18*+ License Agreement dated as of May 5, 19 97 by and between
U.S. Robotics Access Corporation and th e Registrant.

10.19**  Warrant Number CS-01 issued by 8x8, Inc . to Stanford
University on February 17, 1998.

10.20**  Fifth Amendment to Lease dated January 26, 1998 between
Sobrato Interests and the Registrant.

10.21*  Landlords Consent to Sublease dated Feb ruary 23, 1998 among
Sobrato Interests, Bay Networks, Inc. a nd the Registrant.

21.1+ Subsidiaries of Registrant.

23.1 Consent of Independent Accountants.

24.1 Power of Attorney (see page 55).
271 Financial Data Schedule.

* Confidential treatment was granted with respeatértain portions of this exhibit.

+ Previously filed as an exhibit to the RegistmRegistration Statement on Form S-1, Securitidstathange Commission File No. 333-
15627, declared effective on July 1, 1997 and ipo@ted by reference herein.

** Previously filed as an exhibit to the Companisport on Form 10-K dated May 7, 1998.
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EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

We hereby consent to the incorporation by referémtlee Registration Statements on Form S-8 (N83:3943 and 333-50519) of 8x8, Inc.
of our report dated April 27, 1999, except for No€ which is as of May 13, 1999 appearing on &fgef this Form 10-K.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
San Jose, California
May 24, 199¢



ARTICLE 5

THIS SCHEDULE CONTAINS SUMMARY INFORMATION EXTRACTE FROM 8X8, INC.'S CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF
OPERATIONS AND CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS INCLUDEIN THE COMPANY'S FORM 10-K FOR THE PERIOD
ENDED MARCH 31, 1999 AND IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIREY BY REFERENCE TO SUCH FINANCIAL STATEMENTS.

MULTIPLIER: 1,000

PERIOD TYPE 12 MOS
FISCAL YEAR END MAR 31 199¢
PERIOD START APR 01 199
PERIOD END MAR 31 199¢
CASH 15,81(
SECURITIES 0
RECEIVABLES 5,8861
ALLOWANCES 0
INVENTORY 3,01¢
CURRENT ASSETS 26.48¢
PP&E 9,06t
DEPRECIATION (6,902
TOTAL ASSETS 28 70¢
CURRENT LIABILITIES 9,88¢
BONDS 0
PREFERRED MANDATORY 0
PREFERREL 0
COMMON 15
OTHER SE 18,80¢
TOTAL LIABILITY AND EQUITY 28.70¢
SALES 31.68:
TOTAL REVENUES 31,68:
CGS 24,28
TOTAL COSTS 24,28
OTHER EXPENSES 27,63
LOSS PROVISION 0
INTEREST EXPENSE 0
INCOME PRETAX (19,224
INCOME TAX 0
INCOME CONTINUING (19,224
DISCONTINUED 0
EXTRAORDINARY 0
CHANGES 0
NET INCOME (19,224
EPS BASIC (1.28)2
EPS DILUTED (1.28

1ITEM SHOWN NET OF ALLOWANCE, CONSISTENT WITH THE BBANCE SHEET PRESENTATION

2 FOR PURPOSES OF THIS EXHIBIT, PRIMARY MEANS BASIC.
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